## KEARNEY 🚺





## The Transformational Power of Digital Payments for Governments

The information provided in this Whitepaper is for information purposes only and should not be relied on by third parties. This Whitepaper does not in any way represent advice, recommendations or otherwise.

All case studies, comparisons, statistics, research, recommendations, or information in this Whitepaper (the "Information") are provided "AS IS" and intended for informational purposes only and should not be relied upon for operational, marketing, legal, investment, technical, tax, financial or other advice. You should consult with your advisors to determine what laws and regulations may apply to your circumstances.

Visa/AT Kearney make no representation (whether express or implied) or give any warranty regarding the suitability, accuracy or completeness of the Information in this Whitepaper and that matters which may affect third parties are not addressed in the Whitepaper and any liability is therefore hereby expressly excluded to the maximum extent permitted by the applicable law. Any reliance third parties choose to make on the Information is a matter of their judgement exclusively and independently. Furthermore, the Information contained herein is subject to change or amendment without notice.

The actual costs, savings and benefits of any recommendations or programs may vary based upon your specific business needs and program requirements. By their nature, recommendations are not guarantees of future performance or results and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict or quantify. Visa/AT Kearney are under no duty to update or revise this Whitepaper in any way.

All intellectual property rights, including but not limited to copyrights, and the ownership and title to this Whitepaper and the information contained therein are owned by and vest exclusively in Visa. Third parties shall not have nor acquire any rights in such intellectual property and shall not copy, distribute or make any other use of the Whitepaper and the Information contained therein.

These materials and best practice recommendations are provided for informational purposes only and should not be relied upon for marketing, legal, regulatory, or other advice. Recommended marketing materials should be independently evaluated in light of your specific business needs, operations, and policies as well as any applicable laws and regulations. Visa/AT Kearney are not responsible for your use of the marketing materials, best practice recommendations, or other information, including errors of any kind, or conclusions you might draw from their use.

# Foreword by the Visa Executive Chairman of the Board

Imagine a world where, with a few clicks or keystrokes, citizens and businesses have online access to all government-provided public services, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year. A world where national, state, and local governments get ahead of population growth trends with urban planning initiatives, develop nascent tourism industries based on projected consumer demand, and have some degree of macroeconomic foresight—the ability to peer around the economic corner, so to speak—all through the use of sophisticated data analytics.

The pandemic, still stubbornly lingering, has forced us, as a society, to re-evaluate much of what was once considered given—from how we work and interact with each other, to how we buy and sell and beyond. The digital transformation has accelerated and, if consumer preferences are any indication, is here to stay.

At Visa, digital money movement has always been our business. With recent studies indicating that digital adoption can have an enormous impact on a nation's GDP, we are laser focused on bringing online all sectors of the digital economy—from digitally enabling small and micro businesses, to powering consumer credentials and B2B operations, to working with governments to innovate, build efficiencies, and make data-informed decisions on the best and most effective ways to allocate resources.

While any period of transformation brings with it its challenges, it also brings immense opportunity. Across the world, governments large and small play a critical role in not just advancing their economies, but in embracing change to move towards a better future. When governments successfully harness the power of the digital transformation—and approach it with a comprehensive strategy—it can result in innumerable positive effects for citizens, for businesses, for public services themselves, and for the wider economy.

By embracing the digital transformation, governments can improve efficiencies in both time and cost, build a more inclusive society by opening and improving access to financial services and the digital economy, and act as a catalyst for innovation. All of this together can help to build trust between citizens, businesses, and the public sector, as well as establish better conditions for widespread prosperity.

For the past 60 years, Visa has been partnering with governments to advance economies by transforming how citizens, businesses and public sector employees transact, commute, and grow. Together, we're opening doors for citizens traditionally excluded from the financial system, delivering better experiences for those accepting, making or disbursing payments; modernizing transit experiences to be simpler and more sustainable; and providing actionable insights and data to stimulate economies.

In this, the first whitepaper published by the Visa Government Solutions team, I invite you to learn more about the opportunity digitalization brings, the practical steps the public sector can take to harness its power, and the countries already taking advantage of all it has to offer. As your partner, we can help you address challenges and identify opportunities to move your economy forward. Because we can't build stronger, more resilient economies without advancement.

Juped F. Killy A.

**Alfred F. Kelly** Executive Chairman of the Board, Visa Inc.



### Table of contents

Executive summary	
About the study	5
1. Introduction	6
2. Contribution of digital payments to society and the economy	9
2.1. Building an open economy	9
2.2. Supporting innovation	12
2.3. Instilling trust	15
2.4. Driving prosperity	17
3. Five Government Payment Opportunities	18
3.1. Government commercial payments (G2B): maximizing the power of the public purse	18
3.2. Public disbursement: a powerful policy tool for governments in good times and bad	21
3.3. Small and Medium-sized Businesses: digitalizing the backbone of the global economy	24
3.4. Payments Data: tapping into a rich vein of economic insight	27
3.5. Transforming the government payment experience for citizens and businesses (X2G)	29
4. Case studies	32
5. Takeaways	38
Bibliography	40

### **Executive summary**

Public sector digitalization is not a new idea for governments around the world, and many countries have made significant progress already. But as people and businesses increasingly adopt and rely on digital tools and interaction, digitalization is no longer an optional supplement for the public sector—it is now a real and urgent imperative.

Digital payments regularly play a key role in interactions of the public sector with citizens and businesses—and give governments a host of valuable opportunities to deliver lasting value. Forward-thinking governments can capitalize now on the high-value opportunities offered by digital payments in five key areas:

- Greater digitalization of public procurement and government commercial payments can enable governments to foster a more resilient business environment—reducing costs, boosting efficiency, minimizing risks, and supporting small and medium-sized businesses (SMBs).
- In public disbursement programs, well-developed digital infrastructure and digital payments can empower governments to get vital financial support to people and businesses in need—as quickly and effectively as possible.
- Regulation, infrastructure, grants, and education put governments in the position to drive digitalization of SMB activities and payments—helping SMBs to extend their reach, boost their competitiveness and resilience, enhance efficiency, and improve their access to financing.
- Payment data provides unique and significant insights into spend and mobility. This makes it highly valuable in policy- and decision-making—giving governments the agility to respond to critical social, economic, or environmental questions and issues as they arise.
- By implementing a unified and integrated digital payment infrastructure and methods across public sector services and agencies, governments can become more open, inclusive, and user-friendly—improving satisfaction for citizens and businesses.

Digitalization of public sector interactions can empower governments to deliver on their core strategic goals improving **access** to the public sector for all, reinforcing the **trust** of citizens and businesses in government, fostering **innovation** to support the growth of smaller businesses, and driving **prosperity** by creating an environment in which individuals, businesses, and different economic sectors can thrive.

This paper is part of a series of papers outlining 5 Key Opportunities for the public sector to harness the power of digital payments in order to:

- digitalize and automate public procurement and commercial payments
- make public disbursement programs more inclusive, timely, and effective
- support small businesses to become more resilient and prosperous through digitalization
- leverage payments data to address pressing issues such as tourism recovery or urban design
- make public sector processes simpler, more digital, more convenient—and therefore more inclusive and efficient.

To explore the five key opportunities summarized in this paper in more detail, read more at <u>https://visa.co.uk/</u> <u>run-your-business/visa-government-solutions/thought-leadership.html</u>.

The Transformational Power of Digital Payments for Governments

### **About the study**

This study has been commissioned and developed in collaboration between Visa—a global payments organization—and Kearney—a global management consulting firm. Our mutual goal is to engage with government officials and policymakers—inspiring them to collaborate and leverage the opportunities provided by digital payments to enhance public-sector services and maximize value for society and the economy.

The study was conducted between June and September 2022. All insights, recommendations, and conclusions featured in this study are based on data and information sourced both before the COVID-19 pandemic and during the last two years of the pandemic.

#### **Primary research**

**20+** government officials and leaders of public-private partnerships

## 10+

Kearney Financial Services experts, with experience at the intersection of payments and public sector

## 90+

Visa subject matter experts across different geographies and functions

#### **Secondary research**

130+ data sources referenced in the white paper

## 20+

research and content pieces by international organizations, e.g., the World Bank, the OECD, the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, and the EU

reports of programs and studies published by public sector entities

#### **Global examples**

250+

programs deploying digital payments in the public sector, including focus area, description, and results

## 15+

in depth case studies of flagship digital payments solutions deployed by governments with different starting points, spanning:

- Government commercial payments
- Government disbursement
- Digital enablement of SMBs
- Payments data solutions
  X2G digital services and
  - payments

### **1. Introduction**

### Governments have a vital impact on the lives of citizens, businesses, and society as a whole

Each citizen and business has countless interactions with the government every year. Some are obvious and deliberate—for example, when we renew a driver's license or pay taxes. Some pass unnoticed as government interactions at all—such as using a mobile wallet to pay for a train fare, or reading the next billboard commercial advertising a faraway destination. And some government interactions are surprising—like receiving a government notification that we are eligible to receive a tax rebate or social benefit payment without ever sending an application.

Governments play an influential role in many parts of social and economic life. They provide innumerable services, collect trillions of dollars in taxes, plan and deliver large-scale infrastructure projects like schools and hospitals, and protect economically vulnerable and socially excluded parts of the population. They can nurture an environment that encourages fair business practices, fosters the growth of small businesses, and supports individual sectors of the economy in line with their fiscal and policy objectives.

## Governments are already on the road to digitalization, but that journey has now become an imperative

As people and businesses increasingly embrace digital tools and interaction, the public sector is increasingly incentivized to follow in their footsteps. Digitalization enables governments to improve both the quality of their work and the service the public receives. Information can travel faster and further through digital channels, enabling more people to take advantage of government services—and to do so around the clock. Digital interactions can be less time consuming for people and reduce the administrative burden on companies. Automating processes like public procurement or public disbursement can improve end-user experience, significantly reduce costs, boost efficiency, reduce the length of delivery cycles, and free up resources. Using digital credentials for recurring services, for example payment credentials, can improve convenience and comfort, instill familiarity and trust in digital solutions, and ultimately, support broader adoption. Publicsector employees also stand to benefit from digitalization, with its ability to minimize repetitive tasks and help increase job satisfaction and create opportunities for government agencies to attract fresh talent. Crucially, data from different digital interactions unlocks the opportunity for further service enhancement and personalization, performance and impact measurement, and continuous improvement.

### The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the need for digitalization—and the benefits it can deliver

The COVID-19 pandemic (referred to as "the pandemic", the "COVID-19 crisis", or "COVID-19" hereafter) sparked a seismic shift for citizens and businesses alike-and a sweeping change in the public sector. Even in periods of economic stability, governments are under pressure to deploy public finances to maximum effect-delivering value and efficiency for the citizens and businesses they serve. Now, the specter of an economic downturn means administrations are under pressure to do more with less while the number of people and companies in need of financial support increases. This is where digitalization, in general, and digital payments, in particular, have potential to change the game for the public sector, helping improve efficiency, transparency, and convenience.

Digital payments play a role in almost every activity of the government and public sector-paying vendors for public sector purchases, receiving tax and other fee payments from citizens and companies, providing funds to socially vulnerable individuals, or providing grants or loans to SMBs to support innovation and growth. Digital payments give governments a host of valuable opportunities to deliver lasting value. By working hand in hand with the members of the payments ecosystem, governments can help design an open and inclusive payments landscape that meets the needs both of citizens and businesses. They can facilitate the creation of the infrastructure needed for secure digital payments and incentivize or even mandate the acceptance of digital payments at all merchants and government agencies. Above all, governments that successfully position themselves as role models in the domain of digital payments can create a virtuous circle effect across the larger economy: by modeling best-practice approaches, governments stand to build trust among all stakeholders-increasing inclusion, driving prosperity, and fostering innovation.

This paper and the associated series explore five high-impact opportunities that payment infrastructure, digital payments, and payment data open up for the public sector: (1) digitalization of **public procurement and government commercial payments**; (2) creation of next generation customercentric and digital **public disbursement programs**; (3) digitalization of the backbone of society through **digital enablement of SMBs**' activities and payments; (4) **use of payments data** to convert spend and movement insights into tangible economic value; and (5) digitalization of **government interactions and payments** to provide better, more proactive service to citizens and businesses alike.

#### The purpose of this study

With digital transformation now representing a pressing priority for many governments, this paper offers in-depth insights into five digitalization opportunities—with a specific focus on digital payments. Drawing on a global perspective, we explore the power of digitalization to address the shared challenges faced by governments, citizens, and businesses, while highlighting real-life examples of successful digital transformations from the public sector around the world. In addition, we outline concrete, actionable steps that can help governments drive ahead with digitalization—and to reap enduring benefits for the public sector, the economy, and society as a whole.



### **2. Contribution of digital payments to society and the economy**

Governments that can successfully harness the power of a comprehensive digital payments strategy stand to make significant gains. By embracing digitalization, they can provide for a more open and inclusive society by improving access and interaction for citizens with the public sector. The public sector can strengthen trust between citizens, businesses, and government institutions by increasing transparency of public sector spend, reducing fraud, and creating frameworks for data sharing and usage for the benefit of society. It can also foster innovation—helping small businesses and start-ups gain credibility with their products or adopt new technologies to improve public sector services. Through all of this, governments have a compelling chance to drive prosperity in society and create an environment that helps individuals, businesses, and different sectors to thrive.

#### 2.1. Building an open economy

Many governments across the globe are committed to providing access to public services for all citizens and businesses—building a more open and inclusive society that offers better opportunities for socially or economically marginalized groups and helps to level the competitive playing field for smaller businesses with their larger peers. New technologies and innovation in digital payments are opening up countless opportunities to reach the previously unreachable, and to improve livelihoods as a result.

## Access to the banking system is a critical imperative for governments committed to ensuring financial inclusion for their citizens.

For the <u>1.4bn unbanked individuals around the world</u>, access to digital payments can mean access to financial independence and better financial management—and this is something that governments have the power to provide. Digital payments tend to be the first entry point into the financial system for recipients of government disbursement funds that had previously relied on cash.



According to the Global Findex Database, <u>an</u> <u>estimated 25mn people aged above 15 years in **Brazil** <u>entered the financial system for the first time to</u> <u>receive money from the government</u>. Similarly, in **India**, financial inclusion became a government policy initiative after recommendations of the Rangarajan Committee in 2008. However, the biggest change came with the rollout of Pradhan Mantri Jan Dhan Yojana in 2014, generating <u>more than 260mn</u> <u>new operative accounts and more than 245mn new</u> <u>debit cards</u> in just four years.</u>

## Digitalization provides access to an array of opportunities for SMBs—as financial inclusion does for individuals.

Greater digitalization of public procurement helps to cut down the administrative burden involved and opens up access for small businesses to public tenders—without them being effectively ruled out of the process by larger competitors. e-procurement can boost SMB participation, helping them grow and reinforce their credentials. A number of countries simplify the onboarding, qualification, and bidding requirements and in parallel some <u>explicitly favor</u> <u>SMBs</u> by earmarking a minimum share of total procurement or specific contracts for them, or by requiring winning bidders to sub-contract to SMBs.



In India, the Government e-Marketplace (GeM) launched a <u>new Udyam Registration Scheme—taking</u> <u>consent from businesses for auto-registration</u> on the GeM portal—and set a <u>target of 25 percent for the</u> <u>share of SMBs in public procurement contracts</u> by central ministries and departments. Through simplified qualification and tender processes, GeM accounted for an impressive <u>57 percent of total</u> <u>business through SMBs and over 6 percent</u> <u>contributed by women entrepreneurs</u>. After the **UK** introduced a digital marketplace for information and communication technology (ICT) orders in 2014, it <u>attracted almost 5,100 vendors until late 2018, with</u> <u>92 percent being SMBs</u>.

Access to digital tools and technology for SMBs is another area where governments are acting as enablers—in particular, by providing support such as grants, subsidies, or guaranteed loans. Without specialized government programs designed to support SMB digital enablement, many SMBs might not receive exposure to new technologies or might be deterred from investing in them.

The <u>Cashless **Poland** program</u> was originally born in a bid to overcome two major obstacles holding back adoption of Point-of-Sale (PoS) terminals among merchants: transaction fees and the cost of the terminals themselves. In its first year alone, Cashless Poland surpassed expectations, distributing more than 100,000 devices—<u>two-thirds of all terminals</u> added to the Polish market in 2018. After four years, around 350,000 participants had joined the cashless economy through the program and, according to an industry expert, 60—80 percent of new machines in Poland to date have been installed through the initiative.

## For individuals and businesses to extract maximum value from public sector services, ability to access them without obstacle or inconvenience is crucial.

The ability of the government to drive inclusion translates into convenient and easy access to public sector services for individuals and businesses alike. In a digital government, all obligations can be completed online in a largely seamless end-to-end process, with many complex and circuitous forms coming pre-filled based on inputs from other databases.

Estonia uses a one-stop-shop approach to offer access to almost all public services for its citizens and businesses. 99 percent of public services to citizens are available online 24 hours a day, 98 percent of businesses are registered online, and 98 percent of tax declarations are filed digitally. And the benefits are not limited to lower costs. According to Indrek Õnnik, Global Affairs Director at Government CIO Office in Estonia: "Besides reduced financial cost, other potential measures in quality, accessibility, and increase of satisfaction are perhaps as important. This has an overall positive influence on the quality of life of our citizens". In 2021, 82 percent of all users in Estonia were satisfied with public digital services. What is more, studies show that citizens who are satisfied with specific public services generally have a higher level of trust in public institutions than citizens who are dissatisfied.



KEARNEY VISA

10

### 2.2. Supporting innovation

Governments that actively support—and drive innovation can boost the performance and resilience of the economy and individual sectors. Paymentrelated innovation offers the public sector several powerful ways to achieve this. But it also imposes an important requirement: governments are traditionally not leading innovation but have a critical role in setting the conditions for innovation through regulation and legislation. For innovation to thrive, strong collaborative partnerships between governments and the private sector are essential.

#### Innovation can enable governments to distribute aid to a large number of eligible recipients quickly and effectively in times of crisis.

Innovations in digital identification (by linking to alternative data records, such as employment records or utility payments), and delivery (tokenized credentials linked to virtual accounts, mobile wallet transfers, etc.) enable disbursement programs to rapidly scale up to meet soaring demand.

*	

In order to expand the coverage of its Novissi COVID-19 relief program, the government of Togo partnered with international organizations and experts for technical support. A team of U.S. researchers led by Joshua Blumenstock at the Center for Effective Global Action and the Global Policy Lab developed a novel approach to identify the country's most vulnerable individuals. Their approach relied on supervised machine-learning methods, which make use of traditional household surveys, as well as non-traditional digital data from satellites and mobile phones to estimate the wealth of small villages and individual mobile subscribers. Beneficiaries determined as eligible registered using their mobile phones; after entering basic information into a USSD1 menu, they were immediately sent mobile money transfers of approximately USD20 per month for a period of three months. The machine-learning technological innovation helped target over USD10mn in cash transfers to over 140,000 Togolese at risk of food insecurity.

In **Nigeria**, the <u>eNaira program</u> simplified access to aid for those without IDs or formal addresses. <u>The</u> <u>Central Bank of Nigeria has ensured that socially and</u> <u>financially disadvantaged persons are not precluded</u> <u>from opening accounts by lack of acceptable</u> <u>identification</u> and has established a three-tiered Know-Your-Customer regime with flexible requirements for low- and medium-value account holders. The new digital currency is built on distributed ledger technology—<u>a modular framework</u> <u>that provides a robust security architecture that is</u> <u>versatile</u>, optimizable, scalable, and open to <u>innovation</u>.

#### Unique insights contained in payment data can empower businesses and governments alike to better target strategies and shape policy for the good of the economy as a whole.

Payment data represents a high-impact driver of innovation, providing significant value to several sectors of the economy. In tourism, innovative data analytics solutions and insight dashboards are supporting the growth of the sector—enabling tourism companies to create more strategic and informed initiatives and campaigns, allocate their budgets more effectively, and offer more targeted locations and services.

¥K

For example, in **New Zealand**, the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment uses electronic card transaction data and other data<sup>2</sup> to create a <u>Tourism Recovery Dashboard</u>. The dashboard has been tracking the border reopening and its effect on the recovery of the tourism sector from the COVID-19 pandemic. The statistics helped identify at what point of time holiday and vacation visitors exceeded friends and family visitors and that it was the <u>U.K. and U.S.</u> card spend which led the recovery to 2019 levels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> USSD stands for Unstructured Supplementary Service Data and is a communication protocol used in the Global System for Mobile Communications to send text messages. USSD is similar to Short Message Service (SMS).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Data for the dashboard includes StatsNZ provisional border crossing and visitor arrival data, Sabre flight capacity, Marketview international electronic card spend, and Immigration New Zealand visa approval and arrival figures for the Working Holiday Scheme visa.

In urban planning, payment data underpins the design and assessment of initiatives for reducing pollution and traffic jams, increasing sustainability, or boosting local businesses. Data from digital payments is also invaluable in crisis management, generating insights that fuel effective and timely policy making and response measures.

Several **UK** cities, including Bath, York, and <u>Newcastle, are partnering with GHD's<sup>3</sup> people</u> <u>movement and crowd dynamics team</u>—to gain an aggregated view of <u>movement, spend, and dwell in</u> <u>their cities</u>. The insights are packaged in a dashboard and are used by the cities in a range of ways, from planning for urban regeneration to assessing the economic impact of clean air zones and identifying locations for EV charging.

### Open data holds great promise for digital governments with the vision to drive innovation.

Governments that have the ability to combine different data sets and extract insights from them stand to amplify their impact and create further opportunities for innovation. Open data empowers governments to better and more proactively target their services, while also helping them detect fraud more accurately through advanced analytics.



In **Austria**, parents no longer need to apply for child support as the tax authorities automatically check requirements and transfer the family support to the parents' account. During the COVID-19 pandemic, governments used open data to facilitate the way in which citizens and business coped with the crisis and to exchange expertise with the private sector for more effective policy responses. In South Korea, citizens could easily locate pharmacies with adequate stocks of face masks thanks to a partnership with the private sector. The sales completion rate-comparing the supply and sales volume of masks dailyincreased from 39.5 percent on March 9th to values between 88 percent and 92.5 percent after the service launch on March 10th. Citizens were able to review the mask stock, visit retailers nearby, and secure masks, resulting in high satisfaction with the service.

Increasingly, open data is paired with new technologies, such as artificial intelligence (AI), in order to better serve citizens and businesses and enhance the quality and impact of services.



In the municipality of Trelleborg in Sweden, AI technologies have been used to automate various social assistance decisions since 2016. Currently, the automated decision-making system is able to process applications for homecare, sickness benefits, unemployment benefits, and taxes and has been regarded as a successful example for others to follow. Malta is planning to launch a pilot where AI will be used to collect, organize, and analyze data to discover patterns of water and energy usage. AI will also be used to develop predictive maintenance in utilities management and to design services at the local and city level. Recent research by Digital McKinsey indicates artificial intelligence can automate nearly 80 percent of all physical work, 70 percent of data processing work, and 64 percent of data collection tasks, pointing to tremendous potential for public sector efficiency but also optimization of proactive services to citizens.

### Innovation can help to bridge the significant financing gap for SMBs.

The availability of national payment acceptance infrastructure-which is frequently supported by the public sector-is fundamental to the proliferation of PoS terminals in rural or remote areas and the availability of transaction data for businesses outside of the official banking system. Fintech companies are using innovative methods to analyze SMBs' credit risk-leveraging exactly this digital payments data from PoS transactions to gain insights into the operational performance of these companies. This innovative approach can eliminate the need for a long-term credit history-removing structural barriers facing SMBs in accessing appropriate sources of financing, such as information asymmetries between financial institutions and the SMB management, and relatively higher transaction and borrowing costs for funding institutions to serve SMBs. Larger use of verifiable cashless payments (relative to cash) predicts a higher chance of loan approval, a lower interest rate, and lower default. Knowing that a higher use of cashless payments leads to a higher likelihood of obtaining a loan can create a virtuous cycle in which SMBs adopt digital payments, creating demand-side pressure.

<sup>3</sup> GHD is a global professional services company that provides integrated solutions through its expertise in engineering, environmental design, and construction.

### 2.3. Instilling trust

The ability to secure—and maintain—trust is a significant component of governments' agendas. Digitalization is a powerful vehicle for governments to provide transparency into their activities, demonstrate their integrity in action, and build enduring trust that they are acting in the best interest of different stakeholders in society.

## Without the trust of the public, governments are at risk of falling short of ensuring the success of public policies.

Trust that the government is using public funds in line with policy objectives is critical. Governments that digitalize their procurement processes equip themselves with a powerful tool to maximize the public good by increasing transparency and accessibility to broader public spend. They also gain a highly effective way to minimize the potential for corruption and conflicts of interest that represent a pervasive concern for potential bidders.

11-	- 10
1.0	
10	100

South Korea's ON-line E-Procurement System (KONEPS), the public procurement system of the country, diminishes the possibilities for corruption through online contact instead of direct interpersonal contact and cuts the opportunity for arbitrary decisions by publishing all bidding information real time. This approach dramatically <u>enhanced</u> <u>transparency of the public procurement process</u>. The system resulted in South Korea being <u>ranked number</u> <u>one in Asia and 18th out of 114 assessed states in the</u> <u>world</u> in the Index of Public Integrity published by the European Research Center for Anti-corruption and State-Building.

#### 

In the **U.K.**, <u>reports on all government procurement</u> <u>card transactions over USD600 (GBP500) are</u> <u>published every month</u> on the government's website—within 15 days of the payment cycle's end—providing unprecedented transparency on how public funds are being spent.

#### Citizens' trust in government is largely tied to their confidence that governments have their best interests in mind.

Governments' ability to robustly manage citizens' data—collecting, storing, sharing, and analyzing it in a responsible manner—plays an important role in securing their trust and actively showing that the public sector is acting in their best interests. This is particularly true when it comes to personal financial data, such as bank transactions or tax records. Once data is in the hands of governments, they should ensure that citizens know and understand how their data is being stored, processed, and used in government decision-making. What's more, citizens must also have the power to control via digital consent the type and amount of data that they are comfortable sharing with the public sector.

\*\*

**New Zealand** appointed an independent entity to ensure ethical use of data—<u>the Data Ethics Advisory</u> <u>Group</u>. The group is tasked with advising the New Zealand government agencies on ideas, policy, and proposals related to new and emerging uses of data—thus helping maximize the opportunities and benefits, while responsibly managing potential risk and harm. By using data to analyze and understand drivers, outcomes, and potential obstacles in citizens interactions with authorities, governments can position themselves to identify—and fill—unmet needs and service gaps, creating a stronger alignment between needs and policies—and reinforcing citizens' trust in the process.

### 2.4. Driving prosperity

For governments, driving prosperity means creating an environment that helps individuals, businesses, and economies—and the public sector itself—to thrive. Against the current macroeconomic backdrop, digital payments have an important role to play in fostering prosperity by having the potential to help reduce poverty and inequality and enhance financial inclusion and cohesion across larger society.

#### For society's most vulnerable individuals, government disbursement is often one of the only ways to ensure the survival and future of their families.

The financial fallout of the pandemic has come as a particularly bitter blow for people who were already socioeconomically disadvantaged, putting governments under intense pressure to deliver faster, more effective financial support for those in need. Digitalizing government disbursement programs and payments can make a significant difference here. Digital payments help governments get support to the people in need—as quickly and effectively as possible.

The Ukrainian DIIA e-government platform and app gained traction during the pandemic through the introduction of ePidtrimka (eSupport)-a one-off payment of roughly 37USD (UAH1,000) to fully vaccinated Ukrainians linked to a digital bank card. In the first two months, the government issued 9.3mn ePidtrimka cards. In the last year, the Ukrainian government has been using Diia to send financial assistance to those displaced by the Russian invasion. Colombia's innovative Ingreso Solidario program played its own part in disbursing emergency funds to hard-to-reach individuals in need. The unconditional emergency transfer program reached nearly 3mn households-of which 63 percent are headed by women, and one-third are first-time users of mobile money accounts-by subscribing not only the banking system, but also several large fintechs in the country to reach beneficiaries, including Venezuelan refugees.

## Governments can also boost the prosperity of SMBs—and through that the prosperity of a substantial portion of the national economy.

As large buyers, national governments have the power to promote involvement by SMBs in lucrative public tenders.

A study from **Brazil** shows that winning at least one contract in a given quarter boosts the growth of the successful SMBs by 2.2 percentage points<sup>4</sup> over that quarter-with 93 percent of the new hires coming from either unemployment or the informal sector, and the benefits extending well beyond the end of the contracts themselves. Crucially, digitalization of payments in the public procurement process can also reduce the length of payment cycles and ensure that invoices are paid on time-a critical factor in maintaining all-important liquidity and cashflows for SMBs and supporting a robust financial position for these firms. In Estonia, the city of Tallinn shortened its own payment cycle from 21-30 calendar days to just 10 calendar days to improve the cashflow of companies during the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Governments can support the recovery and renewed prosperity of individual economic sectors by capitalizing on valuable insights contained in payment data.

In these turbulent times, specific sectors of the economy are also in need of concerted support from the government.

_	

For example, in tourism, by enabling sector companies and agencies to identify critical markets, high-value data allows them to refocus their marketing budgets and build more strategic campaigns and initiatives, helping to provide a boost in visitor numbers in the process. **Dubai** achieved exactly this with the <u>Hala China initiative</u>—aimed at attracting Chinese visitors as some of the biggest spenders in the city. The Dubai Department of Tourism and Commerce Marketing counted almost <u>300,000 Chinese visitors per quarter before the</u> <u>COVID-19 pandemic hit</u>.

In the drive toward greater digitalization of payments, actions taken by governments to create prosperity for individuals and businesses commonly also enable the society and the economy to thrive. In the next section of this paper, we take a closer look at five key areas of opportunity for digital payments and explore the ways in which governments can maximize the benefits that they offer.

<sup>4</sup> Percentage point is the unit for the arithmetic difference of two percentages.

### **3. Five Government Payment Opportunities**

#### **Opportunity #1**

# **3.1. Government commercial** payments (G2B): maximizing the power of the public purse

The scope of public procurement is hard to overestimate. It accounts for a hefty <u>6–19 percent of</u> <u>national GDP</u>, with <u>governments spending around</u> <u>USD13tn a year on purchasing and paying</u> for goods, products, and services from private companies. Public procurement spans a broad spectrum from multi-billion-dollar strategic projects, such as highways, hospitals, and schools, down to municipal spend on consumables such as pencils and printing paper. It also covers the expenses incurred by public officials like diplomats, parole officers, and firefighters in the course of their work—from fleet management and fuel costs to accommodation and daily living expenses. In this section, we analyze the opportunity for digitalization to maximize the full potential of government purchasing and commercial payments empowering decision-makers to reduce costs, increase efficiency, minimize risks, and support social goals. We also elaborate on SMB inclusion in the public procurement process, which helps governments focus and multiply the impact of their efforts on building out a stronger SMB segment.



### The imperative to spend public funds wisely—and for maximum impact

Governments around the world allocate vast budgets to public procurement, drawing on taxpayers' money to fund them. This puts them under pressure to optimize those public resources by striking the right balance between purchasing the best goods and services and paying the lowest possible price for them. They must also consider the importance of fostering fair competition for vendors by ensuring that their purchasing processes are fair, efficient, and transparent across the board and that their payments practices are timely and reliable to prevent liquidity issues for businesses—especially for smaller ones.

But getting the most out of public procurement can be a tough task—for governments and suppliers alike. Time-consuming manual processes and approvals can create cumbersome bureaucracy, inefficiencies, and delays for government employees and their suppliers. Payment cycles in public procurement are typically protracted and payments often reach suppliers late—causing them significant cashflow problems. And the huge scale of public procurement—and the financial interests involved can expose it to the potential for corruption.

#### 

Recently, Transparency International **UK** identified <u>73</u> <u>contracts worth more than GBP3.7bn—equivalent to</u> <u>20 percent of COVID-19 contracts</u> between February and November 2020—that raise one or more red flags for possible corruption.

To address these complex challenges, governments are increasingly turning to digitalization to optimize public procurement processes, stimulate fairer competition, and further strategic goals in areas like innovation, sustainability, and support for SMBs.

### Bridging the gap between traditional and digital procurement

The digital gap in public procurement remains striking, revealing a mixed picture at a country level in terms of maturity and sophistication. Traditional procurement is still the dominant model around the world, with its fundamental components of paperwork and manual processes. This means it is commonly time-consuming for all involved and also prone to disruption. At the more advanced end of the public procurement spectrum, e-marketplaces are designed to make government purchasing contactless, paperless, and cashless. They act as a one-stop procurement shop, offering dramatic reductions in the bureaucracy associated with purchasing tail-spend products and services and delivering benefits including significant savings, increased transparency and visibility, greater access to new suppliers and innovative products, and the ability to tackle corruption. Crucially, e-marketplaces also give governments the power to reinforce compliance throughout the procurement process, from vendor onboarding through to implementing spend limits and multi-factor approval. For government officials looking to purchase recurring off-the-shelf products, the experience on a government e-marketplace can be as easy as shopping privately on any popular online platform.

۲

e-marketplaces help address many of the issues that plague the traditional procurement process. India's GeM was designed to help the government tackle the complexity, low levels of transparency, and difficult access for SMBs created by the vast scale of its USD500bn annual public procurement budget. As of 2021, the system was estimated to have generated average savings of 9.75 percent on the median price—as well as eliminating numerous layers of manual, sequential verification and decision-making, and mandating standard payment terms of 10 calendar days of acceptance of materials. Vendors also derived significant benefit from GeM. The platform has made the procurement process more accessible for smaller and remote businesses by reducing the bureaucracy and complexity previously involved in onboarding.

**\***•\*

KONEPS in **South Korea** stands out as well. KONEPS manages over two-thirds of the public procurement <u>business</u> in the country, including bidding, contractsigning, and payment, and is estimated to <u>save the</u> <u>public around USD8bn (KRW8.9tn) annually</u>. Besides delivering cost savings, fast processing times, and greater inclusion of SMBs, the e-marketplace has proven <u>highly effective at diminishing the possibility</u> <u>of corruption</u>—putting Korea <u>in first place in Asia in</u> <u>the Index of Public Integrity</u>.

### Payment instruments underpin the journey to digital public procurement

Commercial payment instruments can support governments on their journey to digitalizing public procurement and provide powerful benefits on their own. Purchasing cards, or P-cards, enable government employees to pay for goods and services, especially recurring off-the-shelf items. A particular advantage of P-cards is that they can be used by governments at any stage of digitalization: they can either be used on their own or linked to e-procurement portals or government e-marketplaces. P-cards are demonstrating their ability to deliver reliability, efficiency, and transparency for governments around the world.

#### 

The **British** government has derived significant benefit from the transition to P-cards, <u>gaining a high</u> <u>level of transparency</u> on how public funds are being spent and generating <u>savings estimated at 35 percent</u> <u>of transaction costs</u> or USD6 (GBP5) per transaction compared to traditional methods. Additionally, governments are beginning to explore virtual procurement credentials, that can be deployed for one-off payment or locked into a single merchant for recurring payments.

The business travel & entertainment (T&E) expenses incurred by government officials represent another important area of public spending—and digital commercial payments are changing the game here too. By using T&E cards, governments can remove the need to manage cash advances and out-of-pocket expenses and reporting—saving precious time, money, and resources. T&E cards also enable administrations to more closely control business spending by establishing payment rules and imposing limits on allowances. And the benefits extend to government employees too, with T&E cards eliminating the need to cover out-of-pocket expenses when travelling and waiting for reimbursement in payroll.

Innovation and further technology advances provide benefits to governments and individuals alike. Governments can use lodge cards to centrally pay for rail travel, flights, and fees for their employees who travel and who may not be eligible for a T&E card. Central payments can help the government to increase purchase power and lower the cost for job-related travel and entertainment spend. Lodge cards can be used in combination with virtual cards for hotel costs and virtual cards in a mobile wallet for on-the-go contactless or online payments costs. The ability to pair the cards with expense management systems can reduce the burden on employees and approvers and reduce the risks of personal financial problems if fraudulent payments are processed.

#### Governments can digitalize public procurement whatever their starting point

As the world moves beyond the pandemic, greater digitalization of public procurement and government commercial payments can help build a more resilient business environment. For governments, this means digitalizing the processes and practices of the most influential buyer in each country-creating a farreaching ripple effect throughout the economy and acting as a "role model" of digital adoption for companies of all sizes. By minimizing the inefficiencies and bureaucracy that are often associated with public procurement, governments can open up public procurement to a broader range of companies, especially SMBs, and stimulate the wider economy in the process. Finally, digitalization of public procurement commonly reduces timeconsuming, manual tasks in the daily routine of public procurement managers-freeing them up to shift their focus to higher-value tasks, potentially improving their job satisfaction, and empowering them to attract high-quality talent to these roles in future. Digital procurement enables governments to drive long term positive change for the operation and delivery of government services and infrastructure.

Governments have the power to digitalize public procurement and government commercial payments—whatever their current level of technology adoption, connectivity, or digitalization. The examples highlighted in this section and the more detailed paper are a testament to the fact that the success of digitalization is not dictated by the starting point. What is more important is that the digital transformation journey is underpinned by strong visible leadership, openness to innovation and changing established practices, and the political will to make the required changes.

Learn how the public sector can optimize procurement and commercial payments to cut costs, boost efficiency, and strengthen public trust at <u>https://visa.co.uk/run-your-business/visa-</u> government-solutions/thought-leadership.html.

#### **Opportunity #2**

#### **3.2. Public disbursement: a** powerful policy tool for governments in good times and bad

Public disbursement programs are a vital instrument in governments' policy toolkit. In times of economic stability, they help bolster prosperity—empowering governments to combat poverty and inequality and foster financial inclusion and cohesion among citizens. They also enable governments to deliver vital fiscal stimulus to businesses, including grants and loans to support small and medium enterprises. However, public disbursement programs play an even more important role in times of economic crisis. This was powerfully demonstrated by the COVID-19 pandemic, when public administrations came under pressure to deliver timely, targeted financial support to an unprecedented number of people and businesses in need. Governments rose to the challenge, but in the process, gaps emerged in their execution capabilities. This section takes stock of some of the critical learnings derived from this unprecedented situation and explores further opportunities for development moving forward.

#### A turning point for public disbursement programs

Even before the pandemic, public disbursement programs made up a significant share of government spend at a global level. But the rapid escalation of the pandemic marked a watershed moment for governments, with widespread financial fallout spurring them to rapidly ramp up their social protection programs. In the last nine months of 2020 alone, at least USD800bn was invested in social protection. By March 2021, governments around the world had announced global fiscal support totaling more than USD13.8tn. And by January 2022, 223 economies had initiated nearly 4,000 social protection and labor measures in response to financial havoc wrought by the pandemic. According to estimates, grants and emergency credits introduced to support businesses affected by the pandemic reached 11.2 percent of G20 countries' GDP in 2020.

### Unprecedented demand—and unprecedented pressure to deliver

With governments under pressure to get financial support to millions of additional beneficiaries—as quickly and efficiently as possible—public disbursement programs became the subject of intense and urgent scrutiny. To meet soaring demand, they needed to become faster, smarter, and more scalable. COVID-19 demonstrated the critical role that well-developed digital infrastructure and digital payments can play in delivering more effective government aid and in scaling up programs and payment.

#### 4

In **Spain**—one of the first countries to experience a spike in COVID-19 cases—MoneyToPay, a joint venture between a subsidiary of CaixaBank and Global Payments—<u>teamed up with Visa</u> to use prepaid cards to disburse government aid. <u>Vulnerable families in Madrid</u> received aid within two weeks to one month after the lock-down began and in 2021 the program grew to <u>more than 7,000 households</u> with monthly recharging of funds.

Meanwhile, other countries—particularly those with high numbers of unbanked citizens, heavy reliance on cash-based payments, and face-to-face disbursement of funds—turned to technology for new solutions to distribute emergency aid in the shortest timeframe possible.



In **Nepal**, the <u>Rahat tokenized aid distribution</u> <u>program</u> deployed blockchain technology to distribute funds to individuals affected by crises quickly and securely by sending them a unique token via SMS. And **Guatemala**'s <u>Bono Familia COVID-19</u> <u>relief program</u> leveraged electricity bills to identify eligible households, deployed real-time payments to reach recipients within days, and capitalized on virtual accounts and tokens to enable beneficiaries to spend their funds.

### Designing digital disbursement programs with citizens at their heart

The COVID-19 pandemic undoubtedly shone a spotlight on the vital importance of effective digital government disbursement, but it will not be the last crisis to demand this level of coordinated response. When the next "extraordinary" disbursement event happens, governments around the world will need to be ready to address the many challenges they will face in the disbursement process: identification and eligibility fraud, delays in funds disbursement through check payment processing, or the need for citizens to travel inconvenient distances to collect cash.

This is where the "digital trinity" comes into its own. Digital identification, mobile communications, and digital payment (as a gateway to digital financial services) are the three critical building blocks for digitalizing government disbursement and expanding financial inclusion. When successfully combined, these three elements have the power to make disbursement programs better targeted, more efficient, scalable, and resilient, and increasingly digital.

```
KEARNEY VISA
```

First, digital ID could help open up the financial ecosystem to <u>a billion individuals</u> who are currently excluded from it, enabling them to access financial products for the very first time.

#### ۲

The **Indian** government achieved exactly that when it introduced the <u>Aadhaar identification card</u>—a unique 12-digit number assigned to each resident—drawing on broad information captured on every individual covered (mobile phone number, biometrics, photograph, and demographic details). Aadhaar penetration had reached <u>over 99 percent of the adult</u> <u>population</u> as of 2018 and is now increasingly used across other government services. Connecting a digital ID with other government records, such as tax records or social benefit registry, gives governments the power to verify the identity of applicants. And this enables them to gauge applicants' level of need and to gear the programs to those who need support the most.

Second, digital payments and infrastructure came under acute scrutiny during the pandemic. Many nations struggled with the huge influx of new recipients, the urgency of the need for support, and the requirement for remote disbursement during lockdowns-challenges that cash-based programs struggled to overcome. Many governments were only able to deliver emergency relief leveraging digital payments - often payments into bank accounts - leaving the unbanked out of the safety net. The transfer of benefits to bank accounts to some citizen and business groups may not have always met the economic or policy objectives with governments lacking control or visibility in terms of whether funds were being utilized as intended. There is no "one-size fits-all" solution here, but governments that digitalize citizen interactions and offer multiple payment methods stand to create a better experience for beneficiaries-making government services more user-friendly and accessible.

Third, mobile technology is playing an increasingly important role in communicating and delivering government disbursement programs. While internet connectivity might still be lagging behind in some countries, <u>53 percent of the world population is now</u> <u>using mobile internet</u>, with only 6 percent (450mn people) not covered by mobile broadband. Access to mobile services increased awareness of social disbursement programs. The ability to apply remotely boosted participation by encouraging applications from a wider cross-section of the population than ever before, including people in rural areas and hard-to-reach minorities such as indigenous groups.

#### Moving forward: building on lessons learned

Governments that successfully use digitalization to transform their vital disbursement programs stand to reap some significant advantages. The public sector now has a valuable opportunity to make the onboarding and application processes more intuitive for citizens, while deploying technology to mitigate the risk of fraudulent applications. And by utilizing digital payment credentials, governments can better target disbursements to people in the greatest need—getting essential funds to them quickly.

Governments can also make significant savings on administrative costs by cutting out the time and resources associated with more traditional payment methods such as cash or check. In addition, digital payments empower governments to generate additional tax revenue by giving them better visibility of the true number of transactions, and to shrink the size of the informal economy in the process. And crucially, in a world where millions of people remain unbanked, the public sector can capitalize on digital payments as a powerful tool to enhance financial inclusion by democratizing access to the financial system for citizens.

Explore lessons learned from past social protect programs and discover how governments can maximize the impact of public disbursement at <u>https://visa.co.uk/run-your-business/visa-</u> government-solutions/thought-leadership.html.

#### **Opportunity #3**

#### **3.3. Small and Medium-sized Businesses: digitalizing the backbone of the global economy**

The reach—and economic importance—of SMBs is vast. At a global level, SMBs represent a staggering <u>90 percent of all businesses and more than 50</u> <u>percent of employment.</u> SMBs also have a <u>higher</u> <u>employment growth rate</u> compared to large businesses. Young SMBs—those between one and five years old—are the largest contributor to net job creation, with contribution amounting to 40 percent. SMBs act as a catalyst for innovation and <u>contribute</u> greatly to the local communities from which they originate. Digitalization can help these vital businesses to extend their reach, enhance competitiveness, and improve operational efficiency. Governments around the world have a critical role to play in driving digital enablement of SMBs. Therefore, we evaluated the power of public policy actions to propel digitalization in this economically vital segment—reinforcing its resilience and building long-term prosperity in the wider economy.



### Deploying digital payments to unlock the full potential of the SMB sector

A critical element of successful SMB digitalization lies in the power to accept, process, and make digital payments. From the government perspective, the benefits are clear to see. A recent <u>Moody's study</u> <u>analyzing 70 countries accounting for 95 percent of</u> <u>global GDP</u> found that card usage alone added USD245bn to real GDP between 2015–2019. In absolute terms, this translates into the creation of about 10.5mn jobs for the same period.

From the perspective of SMBs themselves, the ability to accept digital payments can help them attract and retain customers who prefer to pay without using cash. Convenience for customers is another key driver favoring the adoption of digital payments. According to a Visa study, the failure to offer digital payment at a physical store is frequently a dealbreaker—41 percent of consumers surveyed said they have abandoned a purchase because digital payments were not accepted, with younger shoppers even more likely to do so. Digital payments also remove the costs that come with cash management: both the direct costs incurred through human error, public safety, and forgery, but also the indirect costs in terms of handling and lost productivity for employees. They can even facilitate access to lending, which is often problematic for SMBs-the credit gap alone is estimated at USD4.5tn as of 2017 for emerging markets and developing economies only and represents the unmet financing needs of 21mn SMBs.

### Governments' vested interest in SMB digital payment adoption

Reducing the informal economy is a critical element of governments' mandate to protect their citizens and stimulate fair competition in the private sector. A <u>study by Visa and Kearney</u> highlights a strong inverse correlation between the informal economy and digital payments<sup>5</sup>. Cash makes it easier to keep informal business activity away from the watchful eyes of the authorities—so as digital payments continue to supplant cash, the informal economy is diminished.



Based on its findings, the study projected that a 5 percent increase in digital payments per year for five consecutive years could <u>shrink the informal economy</u> <u>by 11–13 percent</u>. This could also have a significant impact on <u>tax revenue</u>, increasing it by up to 1.7 percent in the **U.S.**, or 3.5 percent in **Italy**.

Greater adoption of digital payments offers governments a pragmatic way to combat the informal economy. Acknowledging that punitive measures are less effective than positive reinforcement, many governments have turned their attention to developing programs that incentivize the wider adoption and use of digital payments. The benefits of digital payment adoption in terms of transparency, reduction of cash in circulation, higher tax revenue, and higher economic growth are compelling.

### Public policy tools to support the digitalization of SMB payments

There are four areas where government support for the digitalization of SMBs and SMB digital payments can generate significant positive impact:

- Creating the right conditions for a robust, open payments infrastructure is a fundamental component for governments on the digitalization journey. Digitalization of SMB payments begins with a PoS terminal-the all-important machine required to accept and process digital payments. But adoption by merchants can be hindered by cost considerations: the transaction fees incurred on each payment and the fixed fee per machine. In Poland, the government launched an initiative to cover both fixed and transaction PoS fees for SMBs and public entities-leading to the installation of more than 500,000 devices in just four years. And in Vietnam, the Ministry of Industry and Trade partnered with Visa to provide farmers with Tap to Phone technology that transformed their phones into payment machines. The solution proved much faster to implement than traditional devices, reducing setup time from weeks to minutes.
- Fiscal incentives can also play a significant role in spurring the adoption of digital payments.
   Economies that already have solid acceptance infrastructure—but a comparatively low number of digital payments—can use tax rebates, discounts on transactions, and tax lotteries to encourage the use of digital payments. To speed up the return of Argentinean tourists to Uruguay, <u>authorities offered</u> <u>a 22 percent value-added tax discount on</u> <u>transactions</u> made with foreign cards in the hospitality sector in 2022. What's more, such measures can also apply to non-residents—an increasingly important benefit in the post-COVID-19 world when countries are focusing on rebuilding their tourism sectors.

<sup>5</sup> The informal economy includes largely legal income-generating activities conducted beyond the visibility and reach of public authorities.

- In addition, governments can democratize SMB access to lending by providing loans and grants to SMBs. Government support measures provided during the pandemic demonstrated the power of this measure, with financial assistance helping many SMBs to stay afloat and saving others from closure-but the financing gap for SMBs is often too large to be tackled through government help alone. To address the financing gap for SMBs, fintechs have started to analyze companies' credit risk in innovative ways. They leverage digital payments data often obtained from PoS transactions in order to gain insights into the operational performance and technology sophistication of SMBs. This could be particularly important in cases where SMBs lack reliable published financial reports to support their eligibility for external financing. Through the use of digital payment transaction data, fintechs become more efficient in screening high- versus lowerguality borrowers and can extend financing to more companies at a lower risk. Alternative forms of financing and fintechs are increasingly becoming part of the policy mix of governments.
- SMB access to public procurement and digitalization of SMB-initiated payments empower businesses to optimize and automate their internal operations across the board. What's more, the considerable economic weight of public sector payments gives governments the opportunity to lead by example-influencing the way in which their citizens pay. Governments can set up specialized programs to support SMB digital enablement through grants, tax rebates, and guaranteed or subsidized loans-reducing the deterrent effect of the cost of technology. Governments should strive to make their programs easily accessible, not process-heavy, and provide the grants through an easy-to-access payment mechanism-enabling ease of drawdown for the business, ease of disbursement for the government, and low ongoing administration of the debt for both the SMB or the government.

### A timely opportunity to enhance the resilience of a critical sector

The promotion of SMB digitalization would benefit from a start with a targeted, concerted, and widely communicated nationwide strategy—underpinned by clearly defined goals and robust commitments from the public sector to support SMBs. Governments play a key and central role in supporting the adoption of digital tools and removing the obstacles that stand in the way. The public sector should oversee the development of the underlying digital infrastructure and enact legislation to drive digitalization.

Governments can also help by developing targeted digital engagement programs to train SMBs on the best digital tools and skills, and to communicate the requirements and costs of implementing digital solutions. Educational programs can enhance understanding of the value of technology. For example, as part of its <u>Digital Europe Programme</u>, the EU is launching <u>Digital Innovation Hubs</u> to advise SMBs on how to integrate digital innovations into their products, business models, and processes. The Hubs provide access to technical expertise and experimentation, so that companies can "<u>test before</u> <u>they invest</u>".

By backing digitalization, governments around the world have the opportunity to foster an environment where entrepreneurship is encouraged and supported, and where small businesses can not only survive, but thrive. Governments that can achieve this will be well positioned to improve the productivity and growth of their economy as a whole.

Discover how digitalization can enhance competitiveness and improve operational efficiency of SMBs, and how governments can play a critical role in driving SMB digital enablement at <u>https://visa.</u> <u>co.uk/run-your-business/visa-government-solutions/</u> <u>thought-leadership.html</u>.

#### **Opportunity #4**

## **3.4. Payments Data: tapping into a rich vein of economic insight**

The increased use and availability of data supports job creation, investments, exports, and innovation. And when data is underpinned by transparent, accountable systems for data sharing, it has the power to unlock and create enormous value— empowering governments to address significant challenges facing the world today. Data is a key component of economic growth. Data access and sharing can help generate social and economic benefits worth between 0.1—1.5 percent of GDP in the case of public-sector data, and between 1.0—2.5 percent of GDP when also including private-sector data.

Payment data has unique attributes that could make it a significant source of commercial and societal value for governments. It offers a unique snapshot of macroeconomic and microeconomic behaviors and trends. It is easy to collect, it is accurate-reflecting actual behavior, and it is timely-capturing transactions as they happen. And, due to its granularity, it allows for different levels of aggregation which enable a nuanced understanding of spend patterns and human movements. This section explores the potential of payments data to help inform and shape public sector strategies and decisions, focusing in particular on payment data and its unique ability to provide governments with significant economic insights-and to generate economic value as a result. The discussion highlights real-world examples of successful solutions where the public sector has deployed payments data in close collaboration with the private sector to tackle both formidable challenges and opportunities facing society today.



#### **Three payment data opportunities**

The incisive economic insights contained in payment data can empower businesses and governments alike to design more effective strategies and make more informed decisions. Below is an overview of three high-impact opportunities:

#### The role of payment data in the tourism sector. As

tourism recovers from the enormous impact of COVID-19, payment data is helping governments guide sector companies and agencies toward more strategic and informed campaigns, along with more effective budget allocation, capacity planning, and infrastructure investments. Access to this data can facilitate better understanding of consumer behavior, spending patterns, or trends, and provide stakeholders in the tourism sector with the tools they need to more closely tailor key locations, attractions, and services to tourists' needs. South Korea has made effective use of payment data to boost its tourism sector in the wake of the pandemic. The Travel Intelligence Program-spearheaded by a public-private partnership between the Korea Tourism Organization and the second-largest wireless carrier, KT Corporation-utilized mobile telecommunications and credit card data to establish domestic visitor numbers and analyzed their expenditure patterns. This data gave the government valuable insights into tourists' demands and behaviors, supporting the sector's recovery.

#### The role of payment data in urban planning and

sustainability. Urban planning represents another area in which payment data is providing new perspectives and shaping public policy. It allows city planners and local administrations to better assess initiatives related to sustainable street design-such as pedestrian zone transformations, land repurposing, and electrical transportation-by identifying patterns of commercial activity and helping assess the financial impact of sustainable design solutions. The New York City Department of Transportation (DOT) used payment data to explore the impact of street projects designed to improve safety, enhance design, and welcome pedestrians, cyclists, and public transit users. The metrics deployed by DOT demonstrated that these projects led to higher retail sales in these local areas. In the three years after the introduction of cycle lanes and a tree-lined median in Brooklyn's Vanderbilt Avenue, retail sales doubled—significantly outperforming trends both across the borough and the city as a whole.

#### The role of payments data for macroeconomic

**foresight.** And in the area of macroeconomic foresight, the accelerated adoption of digital payments throughout the COVID-19 crisis has positioned payment data as one of the strongest

indicators of economic recovery and growth in the post-pandemic world. "Nowcasting" based on payments data is faster than official statistics on economic development and also enriches them, in many cases improving the outputs. For example, the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) has been researching the use of card transaction data as an early barometer of spending in the country. Since the start of the pandemic, noticing the public's and policymakers' increased need for more frequent and timely data, BEA has been presenting estimates based on daily payment card data to measure the impact of COVID-19 on spending. These estimates, looking at spending per industry across the U.S., are updated every two weeks and allow policy-makers to readjust the course of economic recovery in an agile manner.

#### Steps toward unlocking the economic value of data

For the public sector, the depth of the potential of payment data can only be unlocked by sharing it and collaborating with others. This must be balanced with the need for data privacy and security—and public trust in this regard must be earned, putting the onus on governments to ensure citizens have complete confidence that their data is being used and stored safely—and with their full consent. The issue of an international, interoperable framework for crossborder data sharing will also remain a critical element in building a coordinated and harmonized approach to data governance policy and international data flows.

Crucially, the success of digitalization in the public sector depends on governments' ability to harness the power of data they collect and the insights it produces. To achieve this, governments need a data layer-comprising different sources of internal and external data-that is backed up by strong governance, solid security protocols, and robust management. Private partnerships offer a strong basis for expanding the available data pool and optimizing the insights that can be derived from merging different data sources. By fostering robust partnerships with the private sector, forward-thinking governments can also gain a deeper understanding of the true commercial and societal value of data and its potential to fuel further innovation, digitalization, and prosperity.

Find out how payments data can help shape public sector strategies and decisions—and generate economic value as a result—at <u>https://visa.co.uk/</u> <u>run-your-business/visa-government-solutions/</u> <u>thought-leadership.html</u>.

#### **Opportunity #5**

# **3.5. Transforming the government payment experience for citizens and businesses (X2G)**

Governments around the world have been digitalizing and transforming their service delivery. But the COVID-19 pandemic lent fresh impetus to this transition—forcing and accelerating the adoption of digital services covering everything from filing and paying personal and businesses taxes to applying for building permits, registering vehicles, and paying for utilities like water and electricity. In this section, we explore the value of the digitalization of public sector services and payments for citizens and businesses (X2G). We identify ways in which governments and public administrations can significantly improve user experience by implementing a unified and integrated payment infrastructure and methods across different government services and agencies. We also examine how open data—especially financial and payments data—can be used to provide an improved and more proactive service to citizens and businesses.



### Most governments have digital aspirations, but the status quo differs among countries

We have identified four key stages of government digitalization. At the least advanced end of the spectrum, analog governments are heavily dependent on paperwork, face-to-face procedures, and manual execution. Governments using the analog approach typically favor the use of cash over digital payments and the acceptance infrastructure may be patchy, inadequate, and come with high administrative overheads. At the opposite end of the spectrum, highly digitalized government provides a customer-centric designed point of access to all government services-focusing on meeting the needs of citizens and businesses in a responsive and proactive way, while enabling collaboration and data sharing across government entities. These stages differ between countries, and very often between different government offices and levels within the same country. For example, while tax collection by the central government is often managed end-to-end online, other services, such as issuing a new passport in a local municipality, might require an applicant to be physically present.

Digital government comes with some clear advantages—both for citizens and businesses. By simplifying interactions with the public sector, digital government frees up time for people and companies from administrative burdens and allows them to focus on other priorities. The public sector also stands to reap significant benefits from digitalization—freeing up government agents from administrative tasks to focus on services that add more value to citizens. Digitalized person-to-government and business-togovernment payments can <u>expand the revenue</u> <u>collection base, increase government revenue,</u> <u>reduce leakage, and lower administrative costs</u>—thus, improving reconciliation, payment forecasting, and treasury management.

This is powerfully demonstrated by the case of **Estonia**, where the <u>government has implemented</u> <u>digital services across all public domains</u>. Estonia estimates that only the implementation of digital signature generates annual savings equivalent to <u>2</u> <u>percent of its GDP</u>. At the same time, its data exchange system, X-Road, which connects digitally 99 percent of government services, <u>saves more than</u> <u>820 years of working time</u> for the state and citizens annually.

### Choice and inclusiveness are critical in driving adoption of digital X2G payments

Digitalization of X2G payments can play a vital part in bridging the gap between digital access to government services and final user consumption. By providing a smooth, intuitive end-to-end process for users, digital X2G payments can reduce the need for face-to-face interactions, time-consuming paperbased workflows, and back-office data and payment reconciliation.

In countries where the share of unbanked population remains high, the government may focus on ensuring that the choice of available payment methods maximizes the accessibility of government services and inclusivity for different segments.

.

This is demonstrated in **Rwanda**, where only <u>36</u> percent of the adult population was banked as of 2020, but an additional <u>41 percent of the population</u> was financially included through other means, such as mobile phones. As such, Rwanda's government platform provides an option for mobile payments resulting in <u>55 percent of online payments</u> being conducted exclusively through mobile. Analysis of the International Monetary Fund reveals that digitalizing government payments in developing countries<sup>6</sup> could <u>save about 0.8—1.1 percent of GDP</u>, <u>equivalent to USD220bn—USD320bn</u> annually. This is equal to <u>1.5 percent of the value of all government</u> <u>payment transactions</u>.

In countries with established e-government or digital government, X2G payments are automated, embedded, and frictionless—enabling users to pay for different government services with as few clicks as possible. Choice is crucial as well, and administrations offer a range of payment methods that align with the payment habits, options, and needs of their citizens. The availability of the same payment methods across different government services and channels is equally important, along with the ability to use digital credentials—instilling familiarity, comfort, and trust in digital solutions and promoting broader adoption.

<sup>6</sup> Based on a study by the International Monetary Fund including Brazil, China, India, Indonesia, Mexico, Nigeria, and South Africa.



These imperatives are reflected in digital government platforms already implemented in countries such as **Australia**, where people use a variety of digital payment methods. Correspondingly, the country's digital government platform focuses on catering to the preferences of every group—providing the opportunity to save the preferred payment method within the government portal and to pay for public services through methods including online bill payment service, credit/ debit card, and electronic transfer.

### Open data opens up new opportunities for governments

Open data represents a source of huge potential for digital governments, empowering them to more proactively target their services and to better identify fraud through advanced analytics.

In **Estonia**, <u>it takes about three minutes to file taxes as</u> <u>a physical person</u>. Everything is automatically prepared and prefilled—<u>incomes, taxes paid by the</u> <u>employer on the individual's behalf, mortgage</u> <u>payments</u>, etc.—and if some of the data, such as income from selling stocks, is not on the declaration at first, it can be <u>added in just a few clicks from the</u> <u>online banking</u>. The pre-filled tax form takes into account the existing tax rules—e.g., taxes that might be owed but also rebates that the business or individual might be eligible for.

In addition to proactively providing citizens with notifications about public services that are relevant to them, governments can establish the likelihood that an individual or business is underreporting earnings, with the most advanced solutions for automated tax audits deploying a combination of payment data and multiple open-data sources.

In the **UK**, HMRC's<sup>7</sup> Connect system <u>collates data</u> from 40 data sets and 600mn documents—from bank accounts, credit and debit card accounts, e-commerce websites, and others—to identify spending behaviors that do not align with individuals' reported tax statements. The system, which cost around GBP90mn (USD124mn) to develop, is estimated to have <u>helped secure an additional</u> <u>GBP3bn (USD4.1bn) in tax revenues</u>. Similarly, in **Slovenia**, the Ministry of Finance's Financial Administration <u>has been using machine</u> <u>learning</u> to detect tax evasion schemes, tax fraud, and to find errors in tax reports. In 2017, the administration <u>listed 158 risk factors and used them to</u> <u>select around 17,500 individuals and companies for</u> <u>tax inspection</u>. The inspectors found irregularities in <u>more than 75 percent</u> of all the selected cases.

#### Designing the digital government of the future

For both citizens and businesses, user-friendly, hassle-free, and end-to-end digital government services and payments can make a significant contribution toward strengthening trust—giving them confidence that the public sector is there to serve them and has their best interests at heart. They can also play an important role in enhancing inclusion across the board—making government services accessible to a larger proportion of the population and a higher number of companies (especially the smallest ones) and boosting compliance in the process.

To maximize the success of digitalizing government services and payments, governments usually start with well-defined strategies underpinned by clear implementation goals and solid political support to drive sustainable change. They balance short-term gains with long-term growth, ensuring continuity after the end of their mandate—despite the high costs and protracted implementation timelines of digital transformation programs. Governments that look beyond their term in power to plan longer-term digital transformation can improve citizens' lives, enable businesses to be more prosperous (by focusing more on business and less on administration), and deliver significant benefits for the public sector itself.

Understand how governments can improve accessibility and user experience, while also boosting revenue collection and internal efficiency at <u>https://</u> <u>visa.co.uk/run-your-business/visa-government-</u> <u>solutions/thought-leadership.html</u>.

<sup>7</sup> Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, the UK government department that is responsible for calculating and collecting taxes.

### 4. Case studies

Case study #1

#### **Singapore Smart Digital Government**



Singapore began its digital transformation journey back in the 1980s and embraced technology as a powerful engine for its economy and society. In 2014, the country outlined plans to become the world's first <u>Smart Nation</u>, and already in 2017, the <u>Smart Nation &</u> <u>Digital Government Office was reporting directly to</u> <u>the Prime Minister with responsibility for key national</u> <u>projects</u> such as the National Digital Identity and the Smart Nation Sensor Platform. Singapore's digital government aims to be "<u>digital to</u> <u>the core and serve with heart</u>". Digitalization provides an effective way to serve citizens with greater empathy, designing policies and services that are inclusive, easy to navigate, and personalized. Crucially, Singapore's head start allowed it to grow into a leader in the space of public sector digitalization, with flagship examples highlighted below.



#### LifeSG and SingPass: digitalizing X2G payments

The LifeSG app is a centralized solution for government services—giving citizens digital access to more than 70 government services on topics such as family and parenting, work and employment, healthcare, housing, and property that can be carried out from a mobile device. First launched in 2018 to support families with young children, LifeSG expanded over time to serve citizens in other aspects of their life journeys.

The convenience offered by this solution is clear to see. <u>Seven out of 10 births in Singapore</u> are registered through the app, and digitalization has cut down the process for birth registration from 60 to just 15 minutes. In addition, LifeSG has drastically reduced the number of government apps from some <u>170</u> <u>affiliated government apps</u> in 2019 to a single, centralized solution. This provided additional benefits: reducing the hassle of using multiple apps and decreasing the cost of maintaining them.

LifeSG is underpinned by Singpass-a digital ID that allows users to securely confirm their identity when transacting with the government. Through Singpass, residents not only securely access government services online, but also conveniently digitally pay for these services. 97 percent of the eligible population (or 4.5mn citizens and residents of Singapore) uses the Singpass application to access more than 2,000 public and private sector services online, ranging from financial services to healthcare, education, business services, and transportation. More than 350mn transactions are completed each year. A document wallet has recently been added, enabling citizens and residents to store their identity cards, driving licenses, and COVID-19 vaccination documentation.

#### SMEs Go Digital<sup>®</sup>: digital enablement of SMBs

Small and medium-sized businesses sit at the heart of Singapore's economy—<u>employing 77 percent of its</u> <u>workforce and contributing 44 percent of its GDP</u>. The flagship government program, <u>SMEs Go Digital</u>, <u>has enabled more than 80,000 businesses</u> to kickstart their digitalization journey, of which about a quarter came onboard in 2021 alone. Since 2017, the program has offered capacity building, favorable pricing on digital technologies, a dedicated e-commerce platform for exports, and a portal enabling a digital readiness assessment. As a result, SMBs' awareness of digitalization has been growing steadily: while 57 percent of Singapore SMBs had heard of the term "digital transformation" in 2018, 83 percent had digital transformation strategies in place two years later, according to an <u>SME Digital Transformation Study</u> by the Association of Small and Medium Enterprises and Microsoft.

Single Quick Response Code (SGQR) is another initiative that is playing a strong role in supporting SMB merchants. SGQR is a single standardized QR code that combines multiple domestic and international QR schemes in Singapore into a single QR label. This enables consumers to make payments at more than 203,000 businesses in Singapore—and all without confusion over multiple QR codes at the storefront. Merchants benefit from an infrastructurelite payment solution, which allows them to accept digital payments and helps them reduce queues and waiting time.

### GeBIZ Mall: government procurement and commercial payments

<u>GeBIZ Mall</u>—an online marketplace for public orders—enables businesses of all sizes to easily access public bids and participate in small value purchases. Via GeBIZ Mall, suppliers are given electronic "shelf-space" to sell their goods and services. At the same time, authorities <u>can complete</u> <u>purchases of standardized products up to USD4,478</u> (SGD6,000) quickly and simply—with a fully automated e-commerce model, including automated audit controls and monitoring.

Quickbuy@SGov—an application programming interface-was developed to interface with businesses' digital commercial platforms and to further simplify purchasing with the public sector. To participate in Quickbuy@SGov, businesses need to have a commercial digital platform that supports online transactions allowing buyers to browse product listings and make purchases. Businesses must meet a set of technical requirements, such as electronic invoicing and billing. In return, the government guarantees payment within 14 days after delivery of their order and verification of invoice details. This incentivizes businesses to digitalize if they want to benefit from the country's large public procurement spend—of which the ICT equipment alone was worth USD2.8bn (SGD3.8bn) in 2021.

<sup>8</sup> SME Go Digital is the official name of the program by the Infocomm Media Development Authority in Singapore aiming to make going digital simple for SMBs as well as supporting SMBs at various stages of their digitalization growth. The term "SMEs" is equivalent to "SMBs".

### COVID Support Grant (CSG) and COVID Recovery Grant (CRG): public disbursement

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, the Singapore government launched its <u>CSG and CRG initiatives</u> to address the needs of <u>125,000 citizens</u> affected by the COVID-19 pandemic-induced job loss and the resulting lack of funds. To register, individuals had to visit a dedicated portal—logging on with Singpass. <u>In</u> <u>early 2020, CSG distributed USD156mn (SGD215mn)</u>, with further USD42mn (SGD57mn) given out under CRG in 2020 and 2021.

To make disbursement easier and more convenient. the Singapore government and its Government Technology Agency launched GovWallet—a module integration that allows eligible citizens to receive and spend payouts in one place. While different governmental agencies are still in control of their distribution programs, recipients can track all their pay-outs and spending history via the SingPass or LifeSG apps, and use the LifeSG app to make digital payments powered by GovWallet to merchants via commercially available payment channels such as PayNow and NETS<sup>9</sup>. With every scan-and-pay, funds are transferred automatically from the government agency to the merchant. GovWallet can also be used to give users reminders on unspent credits, or to only allow spending at a specific selection of merchants. Moreover, GovWallet allows unbanked users to withdraw their payouts as cash from ATMs without an ATM card or spend them as e-credits through the app.

#### SingapoRediscovers: big payment data

In partnership with Visa, the Singapore Tourist Board utilized payments and other data sources to gauge the impact of the pandemic on tourism and map out a road to recovery. Based on these insights, the government decided to stimulate local spending as a way to bridge the gap left by foreign tourists. Under the SingapoRediscovers initiative, USD238mn (SGD320mn) was distributed to the adult population via app-based vouchers using Singpass to verify recipients' identity. These could only be used at hotels, attractions, and tours in Singapore increasing the number of visitors and revenues for the tourism sector. As a result, hotels saw a 50 percent increase in footfall from families with children, while footfall at shopping centers rose by 30 percent in the last two months of 2020.

#### Interesting facts about Singapore's digital government:

- <u>94 percent of all government services</u> can be completed end-to-end online.
- <u>96 percent of government services</u> provide a digital payment option and <u>98 percent of all</u> <u>payments for government services</u> are cashless.
- Singapore simplified tax filing from an eight-page form to a pre-filled electronic form. Today, this initiative benefits two in three taxpayers.
- In 2021, <u>85 percent of citizens and 76 percent of businesses</u> are very satisfied with the government digital services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> NETS is the network brand name for the NETS Group, Singapore's leading payment services group that operates Singapore's national debit scheme.
### Case study #2

### e-Estonia - the digital society



<u>e-Estonia</u> is one of the most advanced examples of public sector digitalization globally. The platform allows citizens and businesses to take advantage of <u>3,000 government e-services</u> entirely digitally. <u>99</u> <u>percent of all banking transactions</u> take place online. Business owners can set up and <u>conduct business</u> <u>worldwide—entirely online</u>. To make this possible, the government established close collaborative partnerships with private companies: financial institutions and technology providers. Estonia's digital government is based on <u>four</u> <u>fundamental principles</u>: (1) digitally minded streamlining public bureaucracy to save time and money for citizens; (2) once-only—eliminating duplicate data and ensuring any data related to an individual is collected by one institution only; (3) digital by default—tasking authorities with making digital formats the norm; and (4) 99 percent online ensuring 99 percent of government services are accessible online. Several flagship initiatives that moved the country closer to the goal of creating <u>simple</u>, efficient, and transparent government <u>systems</u> are described below.



#### e-services in e-Estonia: X2G payments

e-Estonia sits at the heart of public-sector digitalization for individuals and businesses in Estonia. <u>More than 3,000 e-services</u> are offered through e-Estonia and can be completed online 24/7—from <u>medical prescriptions</u>, online voting, and <u>tax filing</u>, to support tools such as <u>digital signing</u>. 82 <u>percent of e-Estonia users</u> report being satisfied with public e-services and with the platform—<u>saving them</u> <u>an average of five working days a year</u>. In parallel, digital signing <u>saves the government 2 percent of</u> <u>GDP annually</u>.

The platform has greatly simplified many of the processes involved in starting and running a company in Estonia. Company registration can be done from one online portal and <u>it takes 18 minutes to establish a fully operational company</u>. Estonia's e-Business Register is an advanced and secure tool that allows entrepreneurs to quickly register a new business online <u>without having to go to a notary or other official</u>. In 2015, <u>90 percent of the companies</u> were established online; by 2022, this figure had grown to <u>98 percent</u>. User satisfaction of the Company Registration Portal is reported to be more than <u>90 percent</u>, according to surveys.

A clear advantage of Estonia's tax system is that companies spend less time on tax compliance than they would in any other country in the OECD. For example, <u>in an average OECD country</u>, 42 hours per year are used by companies to comply with just corporate income taxes. <u>In Estonia, the figure is five hours</u>. As a result, Estonia ranks as the leading nation for startups with <u>7.7 unicorn-companies per million citizens</u>—the highest number in Europe. Since 2010, the vibrant startup community in Estonia has <u>raised</u> <u>more than EUR3.5bn and 10 unicorns have been</u> <u>founded by Estonians and/or in Estonia</u> (Skype, Playtech, Wise, Bolt, Pipedrive, Zego, ID.me, Gelato, Veriff, and Glia).

Data integration allows Estonia to provide proactive integrated services in complex life situations. In 2021, the government launched <u>seven so-called "invisible</u> <u>services"</u>. In one of such invisible services, new home builders can handle the extensive paperwork involved in permits and approvals through a single gateway, and can monitor the progress of the administrative process via real-time updates. In another, people approaching retirement age can plan future income options after retirement on a single interface. They could also opt to postpone their pension (i.e., continue working) or apply for an early retirement within a single interface, with <u>at least four institutions</u> <u>offering more than six different services</u> in the background. <u>e-ID and e-Residency</u> are two solutions that make e-Estonia possible. The e-ID securely validates the holder's identity in daily transactions both with the government and the private sector—through a physical ID-card, mobile-ID on smartphones, or smart-ID application. e-Residency offers the same level of identity verification to foreign residents regardless of citizenship or location.

#### **Open data and X-Road**

Estonia's decision to <u>legally confer data ownership to</u> <u>the respective individual</u> played an important role in the adoption of online services. Each citizen owns their personal data: government authorities only handle the data and must obtain the explicit consent of the owner to share it with other authorities.

Besides the clear regulatory framework, unique infrastructure for data sharing forms the backbone of government digital services. <u>X-Road is an</u> <u>interoperable distributed information exchange</u> <u>platform</u> that enables different systems of the public and private sector to communicate with each other and supports the once-only principle. <u>52,000</u> <u>organizations are indirect users</u> of the X-Road services. Equally important is the platform's integration with the national banking sector: today, <u>99</u> <u>percent of all banking transactions occur</u> online and are integrated with e-ID and e-Residency.

#### **Proactive public disbursement**

According to Egon Veermäe, Director of the Social Insurance Board of Estonia, <u>the Social Insurance</u> <u>Board seeks to offer simple, proactive, and user-</u> <u>friendly services to residents</u>. The Social Insurance Board of Estonia disburses EUR44mn in family and parental benefits monthly. An automated system based on complex algorithms operates in the background and repeatedly validates data via the different registers in order to approve the type and amount of benefits to which citizens are entitled.

### e-Residency: digital enablement of SMBs

In 2014, Estonia launched an <u>e-residency program</u> issuing a digital identity to foreign citizens that gives them access to Estonia's business environment and allows them to operate their Estonian company fully digitally. Through the program—<u>the first of its</u> <u>kind</u>—global residents can <u>set up and manage a</u> <u>location-independent company online in just one day</u>. As of August 2022, the government reported that <u>more than 100,000</u> Estonian e-residents <u>from over</u> <u>170 countries had established more than 22,000</u> <u>companies</u>. Since its launch, the program has generated <u>USD32mn (EUR 32mn) in tax revenues</u>.

### e-Procurement: government commercial pay

In 2011, Estonia launched an e-procurement platform, enabling public officials and suppliers to complete a number of activities online-from browsing and selecting goods and services in an e-catalogue to e-auctions and e-ordering. Since 2018, e-procurement has been mandatory for most public tenders. As a result, an estimated 97 percent of public orders are now conducted through e-procurementreaching a cumulative value worth USD3.2bn-USD4.3bn (EUR3bn-EUR4bn) in 2020 or an estimated 65-86 percent of total procurement spend at that time<sup>10</sup>. Through the platform, approximately 10,000 orders are completed annually with 60,000 registered users. Crucially, the ease of registering and operating the platform has translated into a high proportion of orders made by small firms: in 2018, SMBs represented 80 percent of all award winners compared to the EU average of 57 percent.

# Interesting facts about Estonia's digital journey:

- <u>Ranked</u> #1 in OECD Tax Competitiveness Index (2022), #3 in the ITU<sup>11</sup> Global Cybersecurity Index (2020), and #1 in the Bertelsmann Foundation Digital Health Index (2019).
- In 2021, <u>Estonian startups have signed 86 funding</u> deals for ~USD1.4bn (EUR962mn).
- Close to 100 percent of patients have a countrywide digital record. e-Prescriptions cover 100 percent of the prescriptions used. 98 percent are prescribed digitally, with the remaining 2 percent entered at the pharmacy.

<sup>10</sup> According to Kearney calculations.

<sup>11</sup> International Telecommunication Union.

### **5. Takeaways**

By harnessing the power of digital payments, governments can help create an inclusive society built on trust, where services are accessible for all. They can also draw on innovation both in the public and the private sector—enhancing prosperity for both. Digitalization has become a top strategic priority, and governments can act now to make it a reality—whatever their current level of digital maturity.

## 01

### Drive change with a clear strategy and targets in mind

Governments need long-term strategy and goals to make it sustainable. Robust national digital strategiesbacked by clear implementation goals and broad political support-are significant components of the potential way forward for the public sector. An important consideration for governments is the need to balance short-term gains with long-term growth. ensuring continuity after the end of their mandatedespite high costs and protracted implementation timelines of digital transformation programs. Setting near-term targets to demonstrate material wins and success stories for government employees to celebrate and citizens and businesses to recognize is a critical part of the change process as well. Governments with a well-established digital government infrastructure and connected citizens are better placed to harness the power of technology to advance their economies and foster long term economic growth.

# 02

### Build framework for success (legal, technologies, capabilities)

Governments need a solid framework for success based on a three-pronged approach: regulation, interoperability, and capabilities. The starting point is a policy framework to enable an open economy-laying a rock-solid foundation for open, ethical, and secure data-sharing among government agencies, with businesses, and across borders. Infrastructure capable to ensure interoperability between government agencies is important for maximizing the impact of digital investments, reducing duplications, and delivering services that are easier to access, consistent across agencies, simpler and more convenient, and closely tailored to the specific needs of citizens and businesses. To maximize the full potential of digitalization, governments should consider committing to investing in capabilities needed to support it and taking a decisive lead on closing the technical skills gap prevalent in many countries.

### Instill behavior change—the government as a role model

Governments that lead by example-positioning themselves at the forefront of the drive toward digitalization-have a significant opportunity to create a virtuous circle of action and reaction. By adopting digital payments across all their operations. governments have a tangible opportunity to influence how their country operates and money moves. At the same time, they have the responsibility to endorse different stakeholders and support them in the behavior change that is needed to make digitalization work. For many individuals, the shift to digital payments is about building confidence in new ways to pay-and this takes time, making ongoing financial education programs imperative. Educational and training opportunities for SMBs about sector-relevant digital tools and skills help them identify the best digital technologies for their business, while gaining a solid understanding of the requirements and costs of implementation.

# 04

### Maximize the impact of private—public partnerships

The public sector can derive significant benefit from drawing on the capabilities and experience of the private sector in driving digital transformationsparticularly in the current environment where governments are under pressure to juggle multiple priorities and reduce headcounts, and where technology talent is scarce and expensive. Innovations generated in the private sector can enhance government efforts, making them more cost efficient and more effective in reaching their target audience. To maximize the benefits of these innovations, proactive cooperation with the private sector is meaningful, especially when it comes to developing conditions for open access, high security, and resilience for all participants. Deploying new digital technologies at scale holds vast potential for the public sector, but that potential can only be unlocked through cohesive collaboration between industry and policymakers.

# 05

### Governments now have some real opportunities wherever they are on their digital journey

The digitalization agenda ultimately supports national competitiveness in the global economy, optimizing the public benefit that government delivers through efficient processes, accessible programs and infrastructure, and enablement of employees to execute their duties more quickly and efficiently. This is a non-partisan, long-term national agenda that prioritizes the welfare and inclusion of a country's citizens and sets the conditions for a successful and competitive domestic economy. The success of any digitalization effort is not dependent on the starting point-either the current level of technology adoption, connectivity, or digitalization-but on strong visible leadership from the top and the political will to make the change happen. Governments face now a real opportunity to take advantage of digitalization and be well prepared to help their countries navigate the digital landscape of the future.

To explore the five key opportunities summarized in this paper in more detail, read more at <u>https://visa.</u> <u>co.uk/run-your-business/visa-government-solutions/</u> <u>thought-leadership.html</u>.

### **Bibliography**

All data sourced and referenced within the paper was checked against the appropriate sites and was available and current at the time of publication.

Ahiabenu, Kwami. (2022). A Comparative Study of the Design Frameworks of the Ghanaian and Nigerian Central Banks' Digital Currencies (CBDC). FinTech 1, no. 3: 235-249. Available at: <<u>https://www.mdpi.com/2674-1032/1/3/19</u>> [Accessed 25 November 2022].

Aga, Gemechu; Francis, David C.; Rodriguez Meza, Jorge. (2015). SMEs, Age, and Jobs: A Review of the Literature, Metrics, and Evidence. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 7493. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/23455</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Aiken, Emily; Bellue, Suzanne; Karlan, Dean; Udry, Chris, Blumenstock, Joshua E. (2022). Machine learning and phone data can improve targeting of humanitarian aid. Nature 603, 864–870. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u><u>s41586-022-04484-9</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

AlgorithmWatch; Chiusi Fabio. (2020). AUTOMATING SOCIETY REPORT 2020. Available at: <<u>https://automatingsoci-ety.algorithmwatch.org/</u>> [Accessed 12 December 2022].

Asian Develoment Bank / KT (n.d.). BIG DATA FOR TOURISM RECOVERY: THE CASE OF THE REPUBLIC OF KOREA. Available at: <<u>https://aric.adb.org/pdf/rcipod/episode\_18/Cho%20PPT.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022]. Accessed 11 November 2022].

Association of Small & Medium Enterprises. (2020). SME Digital Transformation Study. Available at: <<u>https://asme.org.sg/article/public-service-announcements/10/Over%2080%25%20of%20Singapore%20SMEs%20embrace%20</u> digital%20transformation;%20more%20than%20half%20report%20slowdowns%20due%20to%20COVID-19:%20 <u>ASME-Microsoft%20Study%202020</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Australian Taxation Office. (2022). Paying the ATO. Available at: <<u>https://www.ato.gov.au/general/paying-the-ato/</u> <u>how-to-pay/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Ayuntamiento de Madrid. (2020). El Ayuntamiento y Caixabank entregarán tarjetas prepagadas para alimentación a más de 2.000 familias vulnerables. Available at: <<u>https://www.madrid.es/portales/munimadrid/es/Inicio/</u><u>Actualidad/Noticias/El-Ayuntamiento-y-Caixabank-entregaran-tarjetas-prepagadas-para-alimentacion-a-mas-de-2-000-familias-vulnerables/?vgnextfmt=default&vgnextoid=df1940df99031710VgnVCM1000001d4a900aR-CRD&vgnextchannel=a12149fa40ec9410VgnVCM100000171f5a0aRCRD</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Ayuntamiento de Madrid. (2021). Diario de Madrid. Available at: <<u>https://diario.madrid.es/blog/2021/06/28/tarje-ta-familias-un-instrumento-para-ayudar-a-los-hogares-mas-vulnerables/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Better Than Cash Alliance. (2021). Colombia's Ingreso Solidario: Public-private Collaboration In Covid-19 Emergency Payments Response. Available at: <<u>https://www.betterthancash.org/news/learning-series-covid-colom-bia</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Blumenstock Joshua. (2021). Using Mobile Phone and Satellite Data to Target Emergency Cash Transfers. Available at: <<u>https://medium.com/center-for-effective-global-action/using-mobile-phone-and-satellite-data-to-target-emergency-cash-transfers-f0651b2c1f3f</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Ghosh, Pulak; Vallée, Boris; Zeng, Yao. (2021). FinTech Lending and Cashless Payments. Working Paper - Faculty & Research. Harvard Business School. Available at: <<u>https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Pages/item.aspx?num=59733</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Bundesrechenzentrum, Austria. (2015). Antraglose Familienbeihilfe: Der erste No-Stop-Shop der Verwaltung. Available at: <<u>https://www.brz.gv.at/was-wir-tun/services-produkte/no-one-stop-shops/antraglose-familienbeihilfe.</u> <u>html</u>> [Accessed 28 November 2022].

KEARNEY VISA

Bureau of Economic Analysis. (2022). COVID-19 and Recovery: Estimates From Payment Card Transactions | U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA). Available at: <<u>https://www.bea.gov/recovery/estimates-from-pay-ment-card-transactions</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Cashless Poland. (n.d). Cashless Poland Program. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotowkowa.pl/en</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2022). Mapa Polski Bezgotówkowej – I. kwartał 2022 r. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotow-kowa.pl/sites/all/themes/awesomeit/files/dane/Mapa\_Polski\_Bezgotowkowej\_2022Q1\_Snapshot.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Center for Effective Global Action (CEGA). (n.d.). Helping Design Togo's Flagship Cash Transfer Program. <<u>https://cega.berkeley.edu/impact/togo-cash-transfers/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Central Bank of Nigeria. (n.d.). eNaira. Available at: <<u>https://www.cbn.gov.ng/currency/enaira.asp</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Central Bank of Nigeria. (2013). Introduction of Three-Tiered Know Your Customer (KYC) Requirements. Available at: <<u>https://www.cbn.gov.ng/out/2013/ccd/3%20tiered%20kyc%20requirements.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS). (2022). Ukrainian Refugees: Forced Displacement Response Goes Fully Digital. Available at: <<u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/ukrainian-refugees-forced-displacement-re-sponse-goes-fully-digital</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Demirgüç-Kunt, Asli; Klapper, Leora; Singer, Dorothe; Ansar, Saniya. (2022). The Global Findex Database 2021: Financial Inclusion, Digital Payments, and Resilience in the Age of COVID-19. Washington, DC: World Bank. doi:10.1596/978-1-4648-1897-4. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 3.0 IGO Available at: <<u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/globalfindex/Report</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Digital McKinsey. (2019). Driving impact at scale from automation and AI. Available at: <<u>https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Business%20Functions/McKinsey%20Digital/Our%20Insights/Driving%20impact%20at%20Scale%20from%20automation%20AI/Driving-impact-at-scale-from-automation-and-AI.ashx></u> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Donor Committee for Enterprise Development (DCED). (2017). Policies that Promote SME Participation in Public Procurement. Available at: <<u>https://www.enterprise-development.org/wp-content/uploads/DCED-BEWG-SME-Procurement-Report.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (n.d.). e-Governance. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/e-governance/government-cloud/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (n.d.). e-Identity. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/e-identity/id-card/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (n.d.). Ease of doing business. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/ease\_of\_doing\_business/e-business-register/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (n.d.). Building a digital society. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (n.d.). We have built a digital society and we can show you how. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2017). How do Estonians save annually 820 years of work without much effort?. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/how-save-annually-820-years-of-work/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2019). The simple how and why behind the digital signature. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/</u> <u>digital-signature-how-to/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022]. e-Estonia. (2020). E-governance saves money and working hours. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/e-governance-saves-money-and-working-hours/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2020). Proactive government: Factsheet. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/wp-content/uploads/</u><u>facts-a4-proactive-government.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2021). Ease of doing business | e-Tax. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/ease\_of\_doing\_business/e-tax/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2021). e-Governance: Factsheet. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/wp-content/uploads/e-gover-nance-factsheet-sep2021.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). e-Governance: Factsheet. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/wp-content/uploads/e-governance-factsheet-aug2022.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). Ease of doing business | e-Banking. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/ease\_of\_doing\_business/e-banking/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). e-estonia facts. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/wp-content/uploads/e-estonia-facts-octo-ber2022.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). Enter e-estonia: the coolest digital society. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/wp-content/uploads/e-estonia-211022\_eng.pptx</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). E-Identity | e-Residency. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/e-identity/e-residency/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). Tax Competitiveness Index 2022: Estonia has the world's best tax system. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/tax-competitiveness-index-2022-estonia-has-the-worlds-best-tax-system/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). Interoperability Services | X-Road. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/interoperabili-ty-services/x-road/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). e-Health: Factsheet. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/wp-content/uploads/e-health-factsheet-aug2022.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). E-residency: Factsheet. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/wp-content/uploads/e-residen-cy-factsheet-aug2022.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

e-Estonia. (2022). The (e)-Estonian paradigm. Available at: <<u>https://e-estonia.com/the-e-estonian-paradigm/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Estonia Ministry of Finance. (2021). E-procurement in Estonia. Available at: <<u>https://www.fin.ee/en/media/3097/</u> <u>download</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

European Commission (2022). European Digital Innovation Hubs. Available at: <<u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.</u> <u>eu/en/activities/edihs</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

European Commission (2022). The Digital Europe Programme. Available at: <<u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/</u> <u>en/activities/digital-programme</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

European Commission. (2019). 2019 SBA Fact Sheet - Estonia. Available at: <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/</u> <u>documents/38662/attachments/9/translations/en/renditions/native</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

European Commission. (2021). Case studies on the impact of COVID-19 on public procurement practices in Europe (focus on social, environmental, and economic impacts). Available at: <<u>https://futurium.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/</u> <u>files/2021-07/Case%20studies%20on%20the%20impact%20of%20COVID-19%20on%20public%20procure-</u> <u>ment%20practices.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022]. Ferraz, Claudio; Finan, Frederico; Szerman, Dimitri. (2015). Procuring Firm Growth: The Effects of Government Purchases on Firm Dynamics. Textos para discussão 639, Department of Economics PUC-Rio (Brazil). Available at: <<u>https://eml.berkeley.edu/-ffinan/Finan\_Procurement.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

FinScope Rwanda 2020. (2020). Rwanda: CONSUMER SURVEY REPORT 2020. Available at: <<u>https://www.statistics.</u>gov.rw/publication/finscope-rwanda-2020> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Gebiz.gov.sg. (2022). GeBIZ Mall Main Page. Available at: <<u>https://www.gebiz.gov.sg/cmw/content/4/page22/</u> <u>GeBIZ\_Mall.html</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Gebiz.gov.sg. (2022). GUIDE TO SINGAPORE PROCUREMENT. Available at: <<u>https://www.gebiz.gov.sg/singapore-government-procurement-regime.html</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Gentilini, Ugo; Almenfi, Mohamed; Orton, Ian; Dale, Pamela. (2020). Social Protection and Jobs Responses to COVID-19: A Real-Time Review of Country Measures. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/33635</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Government of Dubai. (2019). Tourism Performance Report: Jan - Mar 2019. Available at: <<u>https://www.dubaitour-ism.gov.ae/en/research-and-insights/tourism-performance-report-march-2019</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Government of Singapore. (n.d.). Singapore economy. Available at: <<u>https://www.singstat.gov.sg/modules/</u> infographics/economy> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Government of Singapore. (2019). Factsheet: SingapoRediscovers and Expanded Attractions Guidelines. Available at: <<u>https://www.stb.gov.sg/content/stb/en/media-centre/media-releases/SingapoRediscovers-and-Expanded-Attractions-Guidelines.html</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Government of Singapore. (2022). GovWallet – Reimagining Government Disbursements. Available at: <<u>https://www.developer.tech.gov.sg/products/categories/platform/govwallet/overview</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Government Portal of Ukraine. (2021). Today the project ePidtrymka in the Diia application has officially launched - how to get UAH 1,000. Available at: <<u>https://www.kmu.gov.ua/en/news/sogodni-oficijnij-start-proektu-yepidtrim-ka-yak-podati-zayavku-na-otrimannya-1000-grn-u-zastosunku-diya</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

GovTech Singapore. (n.d.). LifeSG. Available at: <<u>https://www.tech.gov.sg/products-and-services/lifesg/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

GovTech Singapore. (n.d.). A digital wallet to receive and spend Singapore Government payouts in a secure and convenient way. Available at: <<u>https://www.developer.tech.gov.sg/assets/files/govwallet-stack-x-presentation.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

GovTech Singapore. (2020). Moments of Life is now LifeSG – the story so far. Available at: <<u>https://www.tech.gov.</u> <u>sg/media/technews/moments-of-life-is-now-lifesg-story-so-far</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

GovTech Singapore. (2021). Increased ICT spending in FY2021 to accelerate Government digitalisation. Available at: <<u>https://www.tech.gov.sg/media/media-releases/2021-06-23-increased-ict-spending-in-fy2021-to-accelerate-gov-ernment-digitalisation</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

GovWallet. (2022). Your wallet to manage Singapore Government payouts. Available at: <<u>https://www.wallet.gov.</u> sg/> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

GSMA (2022). The Mobile Economy 2022. Available at: <<u>https://www.gsma.com/mobileeconomy/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/280222-The-Mobile-Economy-2022.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

GSMA. (2020). Digitalising person-to-government payments. Available at: <<u>https://www.gsma.com/publicpolicy/</u>wp-content/uploads/2020/09/GSMA-Digitalising-person-to-government-payments.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Gupta, Sanjeev; Keen, Michael; Shah, Alpa; Verdier, Genevieve. (Eds.). (2017). Digital Revolutions in Public Finance. USA: International Monetary Fund. Available at: <<u>https://www.elibrary.imf.org/display/book/9781484315224/978148</u> <u>4315224.xml</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Guru'Guay. (2022). Using credit cards in Uruguay: get 22% VAT off. Available at: <<u>https://www.guruguay.com/</u> <u>tax-free-uruguay-credit-card/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Hallak, Issam; Harasztosi, Peter. Job Creation in Europe: A firm-level analysis. EUR 29689 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2019, ISBN 978-92-76-00775-3, doi:10.2760/590043, JRC115930.

Hazarika, Bhabesh; Jena, Pratap Ranjan. (2017). Public Procurement in India: Assessment of Institutional Mechanism, Challenges, and Reforms. National Institute of Public Finance and Policy (NIPFP), Working Paper No. 204. Available at: <<u>https://www.nipfp.org.in/media/medialibrary/2017/07/WP\_2017\_204.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Infocomm Media Development Authority (IMDA), Singapore. (2022). Continued support for SME Digitalisation. <<u>https://www.imda.gov.sg/-/media/Imda/Files/News-and-Events/Media-Room/Media-Releases/2022/COS-2022/</u> <u>COS-2022-Media-Factsheet\_Continued-support-for-SME-Digitalisation.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

India Ministry of Commerce & Industry. (2022). Government sets a target of 75% procurement. Available at: <<u>https://pib.gov.in/PressReleaselframePage.aspx?PRID=1844060</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

India Ministry Commerce & Industry. (2021). GeM providing increasing market access to seller groups like MSEs, Women SHGs and Startups to reinforce the Make in India Initiative. Available at: <<u>https://pib.gov.in/</u> <u>PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1727549</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

India Ministry of Commerce & Industry. (2021). Government E-Marketplace (GeM). Available at: <<u>https://pib.gov.in/</u> <u>FactsheetDetails.aspx?Id=148586</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

India Ministry of Finance. (2019). FM Reviews Capital Expenditure & Payments of Maharatnas and Navratnas CPSEs. Available at: <<u>https://pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1586546</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

India Ministry of Finance. (2022). Pradhan Mantri Jan Dhan Yojana (PMJDY) - National Mission for Financial Inclusion, completes eight years of successful implementation. Available at: <<u>https://pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx-</u>?<u>PRID=1854909</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

India Ministry of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises. (2018). Public Procurement Policy. Available at: <<u>https://msme.gov.in/public-procurement-policy</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Invest in Estonia. (2021). Why tax declaration is a favourite sport for Estonians? How much time would your company save on tax compliance if it paid taxes in Estonia? Available at: <<u>https://investinestonia.com/why-tax-dec-laration-is-a-favourite-sport-for-estonians-how-much-time-would-your-company-save-on-tax-compliance-if-it-paid-taxes-in-estonia/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Invest in Estonia. (2022). Estonia leads Europe in startups, unicorns and investments per capita — Invest in Estonia. Available at: <<u>https://investinestonia.com/estonia-leads-europe-in-startups-unicorns-and-investments-per-capita/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Kearney. (2019). Digital payments and the global informal economy. Available at: <<u>https://www.kearney.com/</u><u>financial-services/digital-payments-and-the-global-informal-economy</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Kellard, Ben; Verhagen Thomas. (2021). Payments for Net Zero: How the payments industry can contribute to the transition to a net zero economy. Cambridge, UK: University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership. Available at: <<u>https://www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/files/payments\_for\_net\_zero\_brief.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Kim, Haklae. (2021). Lesson Learned from the Power of Open Data: Resolving the Mask Shortage Problem Caused by COVID-19 in South Korea. Sustainability 13, no. 1: 278. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13010278</u>> [Accessed 25 November 2022].

KEARNEY VISA

Korea Anti-corruption & Civil Rights Commission. (2022). In the Index of Public Integrity (IPI) evaluation, Korea ranked 18th in the World and the 1st in Asia, the highest ever. Available at: <<u>https://www.acrc.go.kr/board.es?mid=a</u> 20301000000&bid=62&act=view&list\_no=13155> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Korea Public Procurement Service. (2020). KONEPS | Overview. Available at: <<u>https://pps.go.kr/eng/content.</u> <u>do?key=00777</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Korea Public Procurement Service. (2020). KONEPS | Achievements. Available at: <<u>https://www.pps.go.kr/eng/</u> <u>content.do?key=00776</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Korea Public Procurement Service. (2020). KONEPS | Background. Available at: <<u>https://www.pps.go.kr/eng/</u> <u>content.do?key=00774#none</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Lægreid, Per; Christensen, Tom. (2005). Trust in Government: The Relative Importance of Service Satisfaction, Political Factors, and Demography. Public Performance & Management Review. 28. 679-690. Available at: <<u>https://</u>www.researchgate.net/publication/259369331\_Trust\_in\_Government\_The\_Relative\_Importance\_of\_Service\_ Satisfaction\_Political\_Factors\_and\_Demography> [Accessed 25 November 2022]

Lviv Regional State Administration. (2022). New opportunities for ePidtrymky: Government has approved amendments to the resolution. Available at: <<u>https://old.loda.gov.ua/news?id=65388</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Meraas. (n.d.). Meraas launches 'Hala China'. Available at: <<u>https://www.meraas.com/en/media-center/meraas-launches-hala-china</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Monetary Authority of Singapore. (2022). SGQR: For Consumers. Available at: <<u>https://www.mas.gov.sg/develop-ment/e-payments/sgqr/for-consumers</u>> Reproduced with the permission of the Monetary Authority of Singapore ©2021 The Monetary Authority of Singapore [ Accessed 22 November 2022].

Moody's Analytics. (2021). The Impact of Payment Cards on Economic Growth. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/</u> <u>content/dam/VCOM/regional/na/us/visa-everywhere/documents/the-impact-of-payment-cards-on-economic-</u> <u>growth.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Movement strategies. (2019). Cloud-based platform "Movement Insights" launched in Bath helping retailers measure and enhance business performance. Available at: <<u>https://www.movementstrategies.com/news/cloud-based-platform-movement-insights-launched-in-bath-helping-retailers-measure-and-enhance-business-performance</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

National Bank of Poland. (2019). Informacja o kartach płatniczych IV kwartał 2018 r. Available at: <<u>https://www.nbp.</u>pl/systemplatniczy/karty/q\_04\_2018.pdf> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Near. (2020). The Great Singapore Tourism Report. Available at: <<u>https://near.com/pdf/infographic/sgp-tourism-re-port-february-2020.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

New York City Department of Transportation. (2013). The Economic Benefits of Sustainable Streets. Available at: <<u>https://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/downloads/pdf/dot-economic-benefits-of-sustainable-streets.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

New Zealand Government. (2021). Data Ethics Advisory Group. Available at: <<u>https://data.govt.nz/leadership/advisory-governance/data-ethics-advisory-group</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

New Zealand Ministry of business, innovation and employment. (2022). Tourism Recovery Dashboard. Available at: <<u>https://teic.mbie.govt.nz/teiccategories/datareleases/tourismRecoveryDashboard/</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

New Zealand Ministry of business, innovation and employment. (2022). Tourism Recovery Insights data pack - 30 August. Available at: <<u>https://teic.mbie.govt.nz/teiccategories/resources/2022/08/30/tourism-recovery-insights/</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

New Zealand Ministry of business, innovation and employment. (2022). Tourism Recovery Insights data pack - 2 August. Available at: <<u>https://teic.mbie.govt.nz/teiccategories/resources/2022/08/02/tourism-recovery-in-sights/#slide5</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Nortal. (2019). Proactive service propels Estonia closer to a truly seamless society. Available at: <<u>https://nortal.com/</u> <u>blog/estonia\_introduces\_proactive\_service/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Nortal. (2020). Start a business in 2 minutes. Available at: <<u>https://nortal.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/</u> wp\_easeofdoingbusiness\_start\_a\_business\_in\_2\_minutes.pdf> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Observatory of Public Sector Innovation. (n.d.). Global Digital Marketplace. Available at: <<u>https://oecd-opsi.org/</u> innovations/global-digital-marketplace/> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

OECD. (2018). Embracing Innovation in Government: Global Trends 2018. Available at: <<u>https://www.oecd.org/gov/innovative-government/embracing-innovation-in-government-2018.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

OECD. (2019). Enhancing Access to and Sharing of Data: Reconciling Risks and Benefits for Data Re-use across Societies. OECD Publishing, Paris. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/276aaca8-en</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

OECD. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19): SME policy responses. Available at: <<u>https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/coronavirus-covid-19-sme-policy-responses-04440101/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

OECD. (2021). The Digital Transformation of SMEs. OECD Studies on SMEs and Entrepreneurship, OECD Publishing, Paris. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/bdb9256a-en</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

OECD. (2021). The territorial impact of COVID-19: Managing the crisis and recovery across levels of government. Available at: <<u>https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/the-territorial-impact-of-covid-19-managing-the-crisis-and-recovery-across-levels-of-government-a2c6abaf/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Open Contracting Partnership. (2020). How governments spend: Opening up the value of global public procurement. Available at: <<u>https://www.open-contracting.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/OCP2020-Global-Public-</u> <u>Procurement-Spend.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Quickbuy. (n.d.). FAQ. Available at: <<u>https://www.quickbuy.gov.sg/faq</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Rahat. (n.d.). COVID-19 Aid Distribution at Naxal & Kalanki, Nepal using Blockchain based app "Rahat". Available at: <<u>https://assets.rumsan.com/rumsan.group/rahat-pilot-case-study-1.0-and-2.0.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Singapore Ministry of Social and Family Development. (2021). Covid-19 Recovery Grant extended until 31 Dec 2022 to provide further support. Available at: <<u>https://www.msf.gov.sg/media-room/Pages/COVID-19-RECOVERY-</u> <u>GRANT-EXTENDED-UNTIL-31-DEC-2022-TO-PROVIDE-FURTHER-SUPPORT.aspx</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Smart Nation Singapore. (2022). Cos debate 2022 (speech by minister Josephine Teo). Available at: <<u>https://www.</u> <u>smartnation.gov.sg/media-hub/parliament/cos-2022-speech</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Smart Nation Singapore. (2022). Milestones. Available at: <<u>https://www.smartnation.gov.sg/about-smart-nation/our-journey/milestones</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Smart Nation Singapore. (2022). Digital Government. Available at: <<u>https://www.smartnation.gov.sg/about-smart-nation/digital-government</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Smart Nation Singapore. (2022). Our Digital Government Services. Available at: <<u>https://www.smartnation.gov.sg/</u> <u>initiatives/digital-government-services/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Stats NZ. (2020). Visitor expenditure in New Zealand using an experimental series. Available at: <<u>https://www.stats.govt.nz/experimental/visitor-expenditure-in-new-zealand-using-an-experimental-series</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Strong Towns. (2018). Small Businesses Can Save Your Community. Available at: <<u>https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2018/7/30/small-businesses-can-save-your-community</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Transperancy International UK. (2021). Concern over corruption red flags in 20% of uk's ppe procurement. Available at: <<u>https://www.transparency.org.uk/track-and-trace-uk-PPE-procurement-corruption-risk-VIP-lane</u>> [Accessed 28 November 2022].

The Global Fund. (2015). Development of an e-marketplace for the procurement of public health commodities. Available at: <<u>https://www.theglobalfund.org/media/4181/bm34\_24-developmentofanemarketplace\_report\_en.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

The World Bank, International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. (2022). National Digital Identity and Government Data Sharing in Singapore. Available at: <<u>https://www.developer.tech.gov.sg/assets/files/GovTech%20</u> World%20Bank%20NDI%20APEX%20report.pdf> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

UK Cabinet Office. (2020). Procurement Policy Note – Use of Procurement Cards. Available at: <<u>https://assets.</u>publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/878333/Procurement\_ Policy\_Note\_0320\_Use\_of\_Procurement\_Cards\_\_2\_.pdf> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

UK Government. (2022). Home Office procurement card spend over £500: 2022. Available at: <<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-office-procurement-card-spend-over-500-2022</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Visa. (2022). Visa Study: Small Businesses Optimistic, Looking to Digital Payments for Growth in New Year. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/about-visa/newsroom/press-releases.releaseld.18711.html</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Visa. (2022). Partnering with the public sector to accelerate Europe's economic recovery. Available at: <<u>https://</u>navigate.visa.com/europe/future-of-money/partnering-with-the-public-sector-to-accelerate-europes-economic-recovery/> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Visa. (2021). The Power of Tap to Phone Technology for Financial Inclusion. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/</u> <u>content/dam/VCOM/regional/na/us/visa-everywhere/documents/tap-to-phone-technology-financial-inclu-</u> <u>sion-whitepaper.pdf</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Visa. (2021). Visa to set Vietnamese farmers up for digital transformation. Available at: <<u>https://www.visa.com.vn/</u> <u>en\_VN/about-visa/newsroom/press-releases/visa-to-set-vietnamese-farmers-up-for-digital-transformation.html</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Visa. (2020). The Road To Digital Government Payments. Available at: <<u>https://www.visa.com.bs/dam/VCOM/</u>regional/lac/ENG/Default/Documents/PDFs/G2C-01.pdf> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Visa. (2020). Visa and Singapore Tourism Board ink three-year partnership to support local tourism and lifestyle SMEs and drive domestic and international tourism. Available at: <<u>https://www.visa.com.sg/about-visa/newsroom/</u>press-releases/visa-and-singapore-tourism-board-ink-three-year-partnership-to-support-local-tourism-and-life-style-smes-and-drive-domestic-and-international-tourism.html> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Williams, Colin. (2021). HER MAJESTY'S REVENUE AND CUSTOMS (HMRC) CONNECT DATA ANALYTICS TOOL. United Kingdom. Available at: <<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/351820741\_HER\_MAJESTY%27S\_</u> <u>REVENUE\_AND\_CUSTOMS\_HMRC\_CONNECT\_DATA\_ANALYTICS\_TOOL\_United\_Kingdom</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

World Bank. (n.d.). Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) Finance. Available at: <<u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/</u> topic/smefinance> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

World Bank (2022). The Global Findex Database 2021. Available at: <<u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/globalfindex/Data</u>> License: Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY 4.0) [Accessed 22 November 2022].

World Bank. (2021). ID4D Global Dataset: Global ID Coverage Estimates (English). Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group. Available at: <<u>https://id4d.worldbank.org/global-dataset</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

World Bank. (2020). Global Public Procurement Database. Available at: <<u>https://www.globalpublicprocurement-data.org/gppd/</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

World Bank. (2020). Capital Markets and SMEs in Emerging Markets and Developing Economies: Can They Go the Distance?. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/33373</u>> License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. [Accessed 6 December 2022].

### **About Visa**

Visa Inc. is a global payments technology company that connects consumers, businesses, financial institutions, and governments in more than 200 countries and territories to fast, secure, and reliable digital payments.

At Visa Government Solutions, our mission is to help governments as they seek to advance their economies. We seek to make public disbursement programs more inclusive and impactful; help government employees execute payments in their daily roles more conveniently and with greater transparency; simplify government revenue collection for payers through better customer experience and provide payment data insight and measurement to governments to help inform and shape their policies.

#### <u>visa.com</u>

### **About Kearney**

Kearney is a leading global management consulting firm with more than 4,200 people working in more than 40 countries. We work with more than three-quarters of the Fortune Global 500, as well as with the most influential governmental and non-profit organizations. Driven to be the difference between a big idea and making it happen, we help our clients break through with curiosity, boldness, generosity, solidarity, passion, and genuine commitment to client success.

#### kearney.com

